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Amoeba Management
Training

EXEREGHNBEARCERRTNZER

EXEEBHER FOREAERE” - FEES-HNEEAS  BRETEXE
BRARAREEBET T MANEEIEI -
Our group is committed to the implementation of "Amoeba Management". We purposely organized
two days’ workshop conducted by professional consultants for the training of senior management
in engagement of same business philosophy.

— 53 $E4EHE A One-Minute Manager

EEIFERFTRMAEMEERB AR
MBEERERER (—2BEEA) —2
ERE  —DBXRE  —2EIH-

Mr. K.Y. Lam, our Chairman and CEO , provided
training to our plants’ management about
the “One Minute Manager” : one-minute
goals, one-minute praises and one-minute
reprimands.

Starlite Printers (Far East) awarded with Singapore Star Award and Asia Star Award

EXRERBEIIKBIEEH S SABN2ERE - B
MREBEERNENER - ZRBEXRZHERE
RERGMZE  RACMEARLEBERENERESSF
BRER  BMRKERAEREZ—-

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte Ltd received 2 awards, namely,
“Singapore Packaging Star Award” and “Asia Star Award”
presented by Singapore Manufacturing Federation. The award is
prestigious especially “Asia Star” as the recipient must be a
winner at a national packaging award in their country to qualify and
we are honored to be one of the winners.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

RESULTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2019,
decreased by 7% to approximately HK$1,431 million. A loss of

the Group’s revenue

approximately HK$38 million was recorded, compared to a loss

of approximately HK$54 million last year.

Adverse market conditions hampered the Group’s performance
during the year under review. First and foremost was the
cutback of customers’ orders and pricing amidst the escalating
trade war between the United States and the PRC.

As the competition among printing and packaging companies
intensified, the Group had little room to pass the higher price
of paper and labor costs on to customers, which affected the

Group’s profit margins.

The Group continued with its strategic move to reduce sales to
industries with unfavourable pricing while seeking to expand
sales to high growth sectors. This had a temporary pull back

effect on the Group’s revenue given the weak market sentiment.

The Group’s southern China operation saw a decrease in sales
but reduced its loss. Whilst the eastern China operation posted
a lower loss, its turnaround was hindered by customers’ cutback
of orders and pricing. The south east Asian operation
experienced a loss due to stronger competition in the printing

and packaging industry in the region.

Facing a highly challenging environment, the Group is exploring
means to consolidate its plants and offices. Moreover, the
Group is developing automated equipment through its subsidiary
Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited to
help increase its operational efficiency and reduce the reliance
on labour. Details of these measures are described in the

“Business Review and Prospects” section.

DIVIDENDS

In order to retain resources for the Group’s future development,

the Directors do not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31st March, 2019 (2018: Nil).
paid for the six months ended 30th September, 2018 (30th
September, 2017: Nil).

No interim dividend was
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B aEkER® (DC-160)

Intelligence Equipment Data Collection System

e
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Carton Box Attachments Pasting Line
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BFEMHEER (GF-450)

Greeting Card Flexible Manufacture Machine

BrFEIMAESEHNT [FUEEREST] WS BEAXNEBRABTEREETS LvE
BHMESR  ZERANT EREBEBERN (CAM) - ERURFHLAEE T 75% °

The key of GF-450 is the term  “Flexible” ; module-design concept achieves the convenience of
process modification needed for the different production. This machine is also supported by the
computer aided manufacturing (CAM) software which can reduce 75% of the changeover time.

LARSEMANN

BRZEHBEBWERS  BRBORRRFBEERIESERER
FHHEABEE  EEREN  YEAABHAERBAAER  BE
EERER -

By installing the DC-160 on printing machines, those significant data of
production can be transmitted and collected by Larsemann server over
long-distance, with real-time updating and auto calculating.

REBER

Four Sides Folding Machine
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This four sides folding machine is used for pasting sheet paper
onto the outside of cardboard box precisely and rapidly, It can
be promoted as a general model, used for producing luxury
packaging boxes which is one of the main products of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Overview

During the year under review, market sentiment in major
economies was adversely affected by the escalating trade war
between the United States and the PRC. Customers generally
adopted a more rigid stance on the pricing of orders while
cutting back the quantities in view of the higher tariffs and
growing uncertainties. This resulted in more intense competition

among printing and packaging companies in the PRC and Asia.

Under the circumstances, the Group had to absorb most of the
additional costs in production with little room to pass them on
to customers. Such additional costs included the rising price of
paper, which rose by single digit during the year, as well as the
minimum wages at the Group’s Shenzhen, Guangzhou, and

Suzhou plants which rose by single digits.

The southern China operation narrowed its loss with a decrease
in revenue. Of its three plants, the Shaoguan plant made a
turnaround to profit as the issue of late deliveries and backlog
of orders were resolved, while the Guangzhou plant posted a
higher profit by expanding sales to the growth industries.
However, the Shenzhen plant slid to loss as sales from the
traditional packaging business dropped due to unhealthy

competition.

The eastern China operation incurred a smaller loss but the
extent of improvement was restrained by the adverse business
environment. The south east Asian operation recorded a loss
and lower revenue; its effort to increase exposure to the luxury
packaging sector was hindered by stronger competition among

printing and packaging companies in the region.

In terms of sales category, a significant decline in orders from
the technology sector was recorded as the Group reduced
exposure to industries with unfavourable pricing. Orders from
the toys sector softened due to intensified competition. On the

other hand, luxury packaging and children’s books saw an

increase in revenue while greeting cards posted a decline.
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Grand Opening Ceremony of Suzhou Team Green Furniture Home Products Limited

EREEE T E#MNEE AR D RR2019F 3 A 2957 & M
BARE  BURAFREHRRE !

The Grand Opening Ceremony of Suzhou Team Green Furniture
Home Products Limited on March 29, 2019 was an incredible
success! We would like to extend a very heartfelt thank you to all our

honourable guests.

—

© oz EEREREARE 2019

- Hong Kong Gift and Premium Fair 2019

MRS A e

Jigzle Moji ATE) AMB ARSI SRE20195F BB B EHR7T R
"FrEE R - 8pr A LA B
Jigzle Moji - posable figure series was awarded with the Judge Award of
Hong Kong Smart Design Awards 2019 - 8 years + category




CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The Group is taking measures to enhance its manufacturing
model and customer mix. Over the years, Qianhai Larsemann
Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited has developed the
Automatic Rigid Box Production Line, one of the biggest
machines ever designed, manufactured, and assembled by the
Group. Other automated equipment it developed during the
year included the Robot Static-vision System Pasted Board Line,
the Greeting Card Flexible Manufacture Machine and the

Intelligence Equipment Data Collection System.

Southern China Operation

The southern China operation narrowed its loss during the year
under review. lIts revenue was lower than the previous year,
with a decrease in orders from the toys and technology sectors,

and an increase in sales to the cosmetics sector.

Team Green (JIGZLE®), the Group’s eco-friendly design products
brand, has expanded its sales and distribution network in the
PRC, with two stores being opened in Shanghai and Suzhou.
Team Green (JIGZLE®) received three awards in the Hong Kong
Smart Design Award 2019 from The Hong Kong Exporters’
Association, and attended the Hong Kong Gifts & Premium Fair
held by The Hong Kong Trade Development Council in late
April 2019.

Eastern China Operation

The eastern China operation recorded a smaller loss during the
year under review. Its extent of improvement was restrained by
customers’” more rigid stance on pricing and intensified
competition among printers in the Yangtze River Delta. The
prevailing high price of paper and rise in wages also put

pressure on its bottom line.

In terms of sales category, sales of specialty printing dropped
significantly due to intense market competition; orders for
greeting cards also declined. Domestic sales remained stable

notwithstanding the weakened sentiment in the PRC market.

The eastern China operation is vigorously implementing lean
management and automation to increase its cost efficiency. It

strives to target multinational customers and established Chinese

enterprises and enlarge its clientele in growth sectors.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

South East Asian Operation

The south east Asian operation recorded a loss during the year
with a decline in revenue. Due to more intense competition in
the printing and packaging industry across the region, and the
rising price of paper, the performance of the south east Asian
operation was adversely affected. Its effort to expand sales in
luxury packaging was held back by the cautious stance of
customers in the high-end sector given the uncertain market

sentiment.

Some companies might consider switching their production
orders from the PRC to other Asian countries in view of the
trade war between the United States and the PRC, which
hopefully may provide business opportunities for the south east

Asian operation.

In August 2018, Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte Ltd won two
awards, namely, the Singapore Packaging Star Award and the
Asia Star Award 2017 presented by the Singapore Manufacturing
Federation.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group's operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2019, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-

term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$250 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$11 million compared to

approximately HK$8 million recorded last year.

As at 3Tst March, 2019, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$97 million compared to a working
capital surplus of approximately HK$244 million as at 31st
March, 2018. The Group was in net cash position as at 31st
March 2019 and 31st March 2018. The Group’s gearing ratio as
at 31st March, 2019 was 46% (2018: 47%), based on short-term
and long-term bank borrowings, bill payables and shareholders’
funds of approximately HK$469 million (2018: HK$533 million).

EFE®RE

P
G RBENEGER RATR BRARED
RITT 8 F NS A0 E R b7 %R O R

(s TBEETE BRTEES R
MEEE PETRBCESAREEBET SN
B

ERTEEIUNTE —LRARFEERLIE
ferEEE =M EMmEREE ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ
ESIE AL

—E-NENAEXERIER)ERITEHM
WREEBRAECBETMEER  H R AH N E
ZEBM07FEMZ 28

RBEERMBER

SENTIEESNR BHEEBREFRNRSNK
ARBEMBBITRAREOGERE - RE-Z
—“NEZAZ+—B £EORSNRTERRE
MRITERAN - EATREL -

OEFEAN KENNEXHOS—T—BELET
EFORNBEETL

—NF=ZA=+—B SEEELHBL
hFtaEgBTas m—_E-\F=A=+—8H

AEHN—_ENTOEEELRHB SEHE-T
—hWF=ZA=+—HBkZE—NF=ZA=+—HA
FHEMRRN ZT—NFZA=ZT—HEEHNER

AL ERAAZHE+TRN(CE-NF  BHZ

m++) DREEHRRMATSRITER ENR

BHEERESHONESRTAAEEL(ZZ-N\F:
IR=T=A8ET)E-

13



14

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31st March, 2019, certain assets of the Group with an

aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$32 million
(31st March, 2018: HK$10 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the
Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating
expenses in Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi

exchange rate exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has approximately 4,300 employees. The

Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
providing them with competitive packages, incentive schemes
as well as various training programmes. The Group has
maintained a Share Option Scheme under which share options
can be granted to certain employees (including executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company (excluding
independent non-executive directors)) as incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The Group provides various training
and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The
Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and

education institutions abroad to enhance its staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where

the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for
young people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
— Donation to Polar Museum Foundation
—  Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong

—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

The Group has established an environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) management team to manage, monitor,
recommend and report on environmental and social aspects. An
ESG report is being prepared with reference to Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be
published on the website of The Stock Exchange
(http://www.hkexnews.hk) under “Listed Company Information”

and on the website of the Company (http://www.hkstarlite.com)

within three months after the publication of this annual report.

EFE®RE

BERF FEEBRABR REHEMRFER
E O REBESHNFTE REFTARBREIR
BHRe ZEB2EPHRKEHZERIKIOED - kK
THT2EEYI SEELRBHERBAERE
THEZ2ETAZZRETD ERZBERT &
EIFRETHBRERCERRY  ERER BR
BREEALTREZTHANES -

=
=1

CEFEN SEREETIRZEHBRHE
HibRE)  SEEBEE

£ B ERAN

— RBREBEWEES

— EYEBETERGED

— BRASBHEERZESEHE

RRE -HEREAR(R
®E
AEBEEXRIER HBREARAIRERE HERE
RDEREE ERARRMEEBEEETER  BE-
BEMBSEIFE-RE HLBREARENLLE
EEBMARZMER AR (B ESF LHRA
ZHBE -+ ERE e REABREESIMERR
R ARFERE BRSO =E A AR
48 ¥ (http://www.hkexnews.hk) [ £ 1 2 7] A & | — ##
K 7R B 88 0k (http://www . hkstarlite.com) Fi 2% ©

CHERERD

15



16

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

LOOKING AHEAD

In its latest World Economic Outlook report released in April
2019, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) has once again cut
its global growth forecast for the year. It now projects a 3.3%
growth rate, down from the 3.5% it predicted in January, citing
the trade war between the United States and the PRC, and the
potential for a disorderly Brexit. The report forecasts global
growth to firm up after the first half of 2019, based on “an
ongoing buildup of policy stimulus in China, recent
improvements in global financial market sentiment, the waning
of some temporary drags on growth in the Euro area, and a
gradual stabilization of conditions in stressed emerging market

economies.”

The management expects the pricing of customers’ orders to
remain under pressure as uncertainties are likely to prevail. The
Group is actively exploring means to consolidate its plants and
offices and enhance the employment of resources. The Group
will also strengthen the implementation of automation and lean
manufacturing in its plants to increase their operational

efficiency.
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Chairman
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

In the face of the trade war between the United States and the
PRC, our team has seen an intensification in market volatility
and uncertainty. The cutback on orders and the intention to
demand for the undertaking of extra taxes shrunk the Group’s
revenue by HK$102 million with a loss of HK$38 million, it has
slightly improved as compared with the loss of HK$54 million
recorded last year.

Against headwinds while preparing to address various market
challenges, the Group has drawn on the help of Qianhai
Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen) Limited to further
reduce its labour costs and improve its production efficiency.
Moreover, the Group introduced the new concept of Amoeba
Management to its enterprise system in late 2018 to cultivate
empathy and strive for practical results and respond in a precise
manner.

In order to retain resources for the Group’s development, the
Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31st March, 2019. We hope shareholders would pull together
and tide over the difficulties.

The US-China trade war has made the otherwise harsh
economic environment even worse, exacerbating the vicious
circle in the market. Under the circumstances, the Group had
to absorb part of the additional costs, such as the single-digit
increase in both the price of paper and the wages at the
Group’s plants in Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Suzhou.

Despite this, the southern China operation managed to
effectively reduce its costs. Of its three plants, the Shaoguan
plant recorded a turnaround in profit while the Guangzhou
plant achieved record high results. However, the Shenzhen
plant slid to loss due to unhealthy competition as demand for
the traditional packaging business dropped. At this critical
juncture, Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System (Shenzhen)
Limited made contribution with the successful development of
the Automatic Rigid Box Production Line, the Robot Static-
vision System Pasted Board Line, the Greeting Card Flexible
Manufacture Machine and the Intelligence Equipment Data
Collection System, thereby speeding up the Group’s automation.
The commendable reduction in the loss of the southern China
operation was achieved through an increase in sales to the
cosmetics sector which offset the decrease in orders from the
toys and technology sectors. Team Green established its
presence in Shanghai, with two JIGZLE® stores opened in
Shanghai and Suzhou. It received three awards in the Hong
Kong Smart Design Award 2019 from The Hong Kong Exporters’
Association, demonstrating its remarkable design and brand

management capability.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

The eastern China operation recorded a smaller loss during the
year under review, through implementation of lean management
system to mitigate the decline in packaging orders from the
electronics and technology sectors and the pressure of rising
wages. Meanwhile, it actively developed the domestic business

as a counterweight to the turmoil in foreign markets.

With its unique access to the ASEAN market, the south east
Asian operation is poised to meet the rising demand driven by
the wave of “Not made in China products”. Supported by the
technological transfer from the Group’s four plants in the PRC,
and the strengthening of its management, the Malaysian plant is
in a good position to counter the pressure of rising costs to
become a formidable operation in the printing and packaging
industry in ASEAN. The Singapore company has continued to
act as a window to bring in business and promote its own
brand. While immersing design innovation into its daily
operation, it is also committed to creative and outstanding
industrial design and graphic design, as evidenced by its
winning of the Asia Star Award and the Singapore Packaging
Star Award.

Looking forward to the year 2019-2020, with the dedicated
effort of Starlite colleagues, we shall make strides through the
uncertain environment. We shall move against the odds,
notwithstanding the lowering of global growth forecast by the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) from 3.5% to 3.3%. Our
plants in the PRC would benefit from the state’s policies to
reduce tax by 3% and lower the contributions to the five

mandatory insurance funds and the housing fund.

I always believe that with dedicated efforts, out of the depth of
misfortune comes bliss, and the disputes in international trade
would ultimately return to rationality. That said, | hold no
fantasy the market will return to normal soon and customers
will not cut prices. We shall actively push for the Group’s
internal reform to control cost, and there will be no slowdown
neither in increasing efficiency nor hesitation in consolidating

our resources.

My deep belief is that whether for the secondary industry or the
tertiary industry, they bring bliss to mankind. A well-managed

company, especially a learning-driven organisation like Starlite,

would continue to strive towards its 50th anniversary.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Taking this opportunity, | would like to thank our customers,
suppliers and bankers for their continued support and all our
staff for their loyalty and dedication. | would also like to
express my sincere gratitude to all levels of government for
their appreciation. | am confident that we shall be able to
generate satisfactory results in the year 2019-2020.

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2019
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

MBRE

RAakEE

Year ended 31st March
BE=ZA=+t—HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-hWF —E-)N\F —T—+tF —T-RXF —ZET-ILF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FAET FAET FET
Revenue WA 1,430,998 1,533,094 1,445,870 1,620,364 1,591,655
Operating (loss)/profit K (BR),HEF (14,506) (42,279) 20,622 101,878 19,391
(Loss)/profit for the year FRARXQRBEE A
attributable to the owners  JE{h (E518) /i 7
of the Company (37,925) (54,436) (9,184) 68,112 2,651
Dividends A% B — — 5,251 13,128 5,251
Basic (losses)/earnings per AR EIHEHE AREL
share attributable to the FREN(ER),/
owners of the Company &F (B
(HK cents) (7.22) (10.37) (1.75) 12.97 0.50
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL GBERBRRE
POSITION

As at 31st As at 31st As at 31st As at 31st As at 31st
March, 2019 March, 2018 March, 2017 March, 2016 March, 2015
RZB-NAFE RZZT-NF RZZ—+F RZZE-—RF R-ZT—IF
=A=+-AB =ZA=+—-HBH =ZA=+—-HBH =ZA=+—H =ZA=+-—H

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT FHET FHT FHT FHET

Non-current assets FRBEE 379,051 407,467 380,787 406,922 450,882
Current assets TEAE 637,239 749,638 657,727 684,396 602,975
Current liabilities mEaE (540,396) (505,516) (414,647) (462,755) (444,429)
Net current assets TEAEFE 96,843 244,122 243,080 221,641 158,546
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBAE 475,894 651,589 623,867 628,563 609,428
Non-current liabilities EER=b (7,283) (118,781) (79,970) (38,730) (72,485)
Net assets AEEE 468,611 532,808 543,897 589,833 536,943

Total equity HRmE 468,611 532,808 543,897 589,833 536,943
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2019.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development since the Group’s
business, can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and

Chairman’s Letter set out on pages 7 to 19.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that
its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. A senior management committee of the Company is
delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and
practices for achieving compliance with legal and other
regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant

employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all

material respects with laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2019, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 42% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 23%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 14% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 6% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2019 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

64 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2019, and recommend
that the Group’s retained profits of approximately
HK$226,791,000 be carried forward.

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 24 and 25,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 26 and 32(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.

As at 31st March, 2019, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$24,268,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.
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Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2019.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in Note 15 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2019 are set
out in Notes 21 and 29 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$353,000 (2018: HK$832,000).

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the

date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Shing (Senior Vice President)
(Appointed with effect from T1st April, 2019)

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching (Senior Vice President)
(Appointed with effect from 1st April, 2019)

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Yeung Chui
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus
(Re-designated with effect from 1st April, 2019)
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
(Re-designated with effect from 1st April, 2019)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, sss, j,, Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Mr. Lam Kwong
Yu will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Tin Shing and Mr. Poon Kwok Ching have been appointed
as Executive Directors of the Company with effect from 1st
April, 2019. Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, they
shall hold office until the 2019 Annual General Meeting and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Changes in information of directors
The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles has been re-designated as Non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1st April,
2019 for a term of one year at a fee of HK$150,000 per annum.
He also resigned as director of certain subsidiaries within the

Group.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus has been re-designated as Non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 1st April, 2019 for a
term of one year at a fee of HK$150,000 per annum. He also

resigned as director of certain subsidiaries within the Group.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2019, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions in Shares

Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests
EEpg EL) B A#E
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner 193,915,477
Mm% A §at ¥)
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and interest of 88,843,200
BRELL controlled corporation

ERBARZBHRA R
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus (Note 2) Interest of spouse —
HMEEEE W H2) i BEm
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles  Beneficial owner 300,000
(Note 2)

REK L AL (W i2) BELER
Notes:
1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.

2. Re-designated as Non-Executive Director with effect from Tst April, 2019.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2019, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 15th August, 2012 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply
with the current statutory requirements. The Company may
grant options to the participants as set out in the New Share
Option Scheme.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme
To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the

Company and its shares.

2. Participants of the New Share Option Scheme
(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any

subsidiary; and

(i) Any executive director and non-executive director

(excluding independent non-executive directors) of

the Company or of any subsidiary.
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3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
New Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of the annual report

The Company may initially grant options representing
52,513,528 shares under the New Share Option Scheme
(i.e. approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the approval of the New Share
Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and
any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme if that will

result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the New Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company in
any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares

in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option
Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or

grant of the option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time during a period
commencing on the expiry of 6 calendar months after the

date of grant of the option, but in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant.
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7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must
be paid
The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$10 and an offer shall remain open for acceptance by
the participant for a period of 28 days from the date on
which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that

participant.

8. The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in

its absolute discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business

day; or

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; or

(iii)  the nominal value of the shares on the date of

grant.

9. The remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.

During the year, no share option was granted under the New

Share Option scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s directors, chief executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests

or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.
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Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any of the Company’s directors or members of its management
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2019, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the Shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

BRER 4%

Ms. Li Lin Interest of spouse
FML L B 15 #E a5

Note:

1. Ms. Li Lin (“Ms. Li") is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (“Mr. Lam”) (director

and controlling shareholder of the Company), by virtue of SFO she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Mr. Lam. The shares held by
Mr. Lam and Ms. Li were the same block of shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2019, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the

provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2019.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all
the Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-

Executive Directors of the Company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis and making recommendations to the Board

regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 20 and 21 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the

year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.
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Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 33 to 50 of the

annual report.

Management contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2019.

Employee and remuneration policies

The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
to their strength and development potential. The Group
determined the remuneration packages of all employees
(including the Directors) with reference to individual

performance and current market rate.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him
or her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2019 and remained in force as of the date

of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2019

TEER
ERARBIEMZEELEET AT R ZIBES
HREFE33HE508 °

=

&

EEAN

KEEBREANN R_T-—AF=A=+—HIt
FERLLEREMBREFMERNIE D WAREEEB
BEERITBRA LT EEAEGHD -

BERFHMERK
ANEBERE WS B MR BB MR E S
AL - AEBEZ2REAXRBEMBITTSHFEKF
EE2RER (BRES) NHIAES -

E=nEERRRE

EERBEZENART ARASREFAERRERN
RAMANERRBEBELEATRETRAERS
BEBALAEOMERE WRE -BX BARE
B SERXEBE T -NF=A=1+—HLLY
BFEEHBAR TN AREDRATETHEY -

ARARFRNEBEREHESRSAMAEIR
BoAREEREGBEEHETEATDHEM
% ORI -

3 401

BEMZz MR BB KESMEHAEZ -
EHENBRELFIESRMEBR AR AR
B RBERB N RTZRREFASGLIEE -

REFED
FE
Mo

B —E-hFRAZTNR




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2019, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate
governance practices of the Company during the year ended
31st March, 2019 and significant events after that date and up
to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that

they have complied with the required standard of dealings and

code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board
The Board

governance framework,

is at the core of the Company’s corporate

and there is clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is

responsible for:

o formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

. reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

J ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

o monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has nine members, comprising three
Executive Directors, three Non-Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent Non-
Executive Directors represented one-third of the Board members,
thus exhibiting a strong independent element which enhanced
independent judgement. Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company is a
practicing CPA in Hong Kong and possesses appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise
as required under the Listing Rules. A list containing the names,
roles and functions of Directors is published on the websites of
the Group and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the

“HKEX").

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to

determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2019, five full Board
meetings and the 2018 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were
held with an average attendance rate of 100% and 86%

respectively, details of which are presented below:

BHE-Z—NWF=ZA=+—HLEFEAR Ana#
TAXZEEEZTEEF R -2 \FREEFRE
((RFERFRE])  HEED 5 R100%K86% * 5
BRHIWT :

Board Members EExamE
Board Meetings

Board Members Attended/Held 2018 AGM

Esggld —E-N\F
EEgmE HE BT BRRBEFARE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) MWL E(EESLE) 5/5 v
Mr. Tin Shing (Note 1) B (i) N/A 7~ i@ A N/A 7~ i
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching (Note 1) BB ST (T aET) N/A 738 F N/A 7~ i
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui HEZ+ 5/5 v
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus (Note 2) AR E k(B i2) 5/5 4
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles (Note 2) RAERK ST (B 7E2) 5/5 v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFBTES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRAA 5 & 5/5 v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, BUE - mgs < Fat 5/5 —
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B E A 5/5 v
Notes: B et -
1. Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 1st April, 2019 1. AT NFHA—HEEZEFERNTEF
2. Re-designated as Non-Executive Director with effect from 1st April, 2019 2. A-F—NFHA—HEABRBIENTEF

Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the
Board at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved
by the Chairman following consultation with other Board
members. Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched

to all Board members in a timely manner.

All' Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied
with and advises the Board on corporate governance and
compliance matters. They are also encouraged to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
performance of their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the

Directors are covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability

Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision A.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. As
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the Chairman of the Company, is also an
executive Director of the Company, this code provision is not
applicable.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her
retirement from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been
appointed for a specific term as she is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-

laws of the Company.

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles and Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus

have been re-designated as Non-Executive Directors with effect

from 1st April, 2019 for a term of one year to 31st March,
2020.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

. provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
. serve on committees if invited; and

. scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company
or its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member
of any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company and considers all of
them to be independent having regard to (i) their annual
confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules, (ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management
of the Company and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry,
sgs, jp and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an independent non-executive director and there is no
evidence that their tenure have had any impact on their
independence. The Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam remain independent notwithstanding the
length of their service and believe that their valuable knowledge

and experience continue to generate significant contribution to

the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
AGM, not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall retire at least once every
three years. The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-
election. New appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by

shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles and Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus
have been re-designated as Non-Executive Directors of the
Company with effect from 1st April, 2019 for a term of one
year until 31st March, 2020. The remaining Non-Executive
Directors of the Company have not been appointed for a
specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All' Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or

organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.
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Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, j» was
unable to attend the AGM of the Company held on 21st August,
2018 as he was engaged in other prior business commitments.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had
arranged in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-
Executive Director in form of seminar and provision of training
materials. In addition, the Company also provided regular
updates to the Directors in respect of the business and
operations of the Group through monthly reports; and the
updates on the changes in Listing Rules, Corporate Governance
Code and related regulatory requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken
by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members

FAMEXEA6TIEH T B IERITESE L EMIEH
NTEFELERREAGRERINBELAERAENT
fRoSME  wxmes xrurBEFTLRERE AT
EIZAEEL FIUAEBEEREARBR =T —N\F
NAZ+—BRITZBRERAFAE -

EECHEBREXRRE

REREFTEEEABZEEAARINAMENRBR
THESSEHER ARASKBMAEF2ER
BHEEXZERRE UBREREFEAZREE RN
REFERN  ARRLZHFTE REHIFIER &5
TEFRFVTEF - UIN A2RTEHAES
REEFER EREBABRREHARENER
REBNEBER RBEBMLEMRA MEEBRTAR
HEEERNEE (NA) -

FABUEEZMHFEFERRFBOT

Type of training

ExgNE $F IR 2 E B

A B C
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) M} 0% %= (EF &+ /F) v v v
Mr. Tin Shing 3ok A N/A TER NATER NA T#EA
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & Bk N/A TER  NATER NATER
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI+ v v —
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HAEELE 4 4 —
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles SRR L & v v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRA8 8 & v — v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp BWE - wgpgs A Fwt v — v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny R R E R A v — v
A.  reading materials in relation to regulatory update A AHEEEMTERFTEENEHR
B. attending in-house training to update business B. HERABBEEREINERENAILLE

development

C.  attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop C. HEBN G/ BRE MIeUEEFETE

professional skill and knowledge

B EE

39




40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.

Supply of and Access to Information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined
terms of reference (which are posted on website of the Group
and the HKEX), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination

Committee and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on

its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its

duties and responsibilities.

FARRFBEKEZREFHEAEEXTHE
FRE LA AR R IR 8

REREMES
RTEEEAHFHABAEREERTERERE
T AANEBRREBEFTEXNMHAER T AER
EES FEEFEXHRERLBNAHRES
ehEEREEEMH -

ExgRE

ExZzEg

RAEAFHRED ARAFAERL-BAEESHETEZE
e((EFZES) UM TEHBBEE(ENAE
BILEXMWUMTE) ZFEFZRERTMNESR
e REZEENEREZRE -

FHESS
FMNZEENBERNESTREMEEERSR
EREZHMERRLEFMAEAS FERTEERS
MEBRBZRE ZTREMLEFERREZS YA
HITESERSREEBZRBEEOGER -

ZRETFEANEBRERENEFTSERIBER
BEXHENZMAEEHERERR
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Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held HMEZEEEKLBFRTMALE - B HIHM] \7f
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the HHELRBXBAHFAZEZATER B -#HZ
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st Z—AF=ZA=+—BHILFERN HFMHEZESF %TT
March, 2019, five meetings were held, attendance of these 7T RN G MZSCHEMEEENT :
meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meetings
Remuneration Committee Members Attended/Held
FHEEERE ERUE BT
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) BR A St e (F ) 5/5
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, BIE - wenes A Fmt 5/5
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRI 5/5

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2019.

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$14,668,000 (2018:
HK$11,016,000), individual details of which are disclosed in
Note 10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and
senior management’s compensation including incentive bonus

shall be based on the corporate and individual performance.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and

Chairman of the Board.
The main duties of the Nomination Committee include:

. to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

J to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and to select or to make

recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;

FHEZReEEEREERNERESENEAEE
TAREFAEEREEAFSEZEMER  REHAE
BREMBYIEEATINER UBITHRE A
MERTMARAXN -FHEZESGCEHNEERS
LITBAB T —NFEZHM -

BE-_T-NAF=ZA=T-"REERN EFHR
# #914,668,0008 L(= T — JU 4 : 11,016,000/
7o) HEREM M RRMEIORE -HITES
LRREREZHHERNCERBEAARRREL
M

REZESS
REZEERH-NUBIFATES
EREFSEFAEMK -

— (I IEMITE

REZEEGZBREIZR:

. BMEEEGORE  ABRAEK(BERKEE
A KRBT ERRBER)

. MEAREEEARTREESEMOAL Lk
%%%ﬁﬁﬁ)\iﬂj&%%ﬁ?ﬁ&bﬁ%%@%
HER
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o to assess the independence of the independent non-

executive directors; and

. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and

succession planning for directors.

. ARBILERITEFHELE R

HREEFZEXABNEZEUREFEEFEW
ExgRtE#E-

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, two meetings were #HE_T-NWF=ZA=+—-HIFERN EELZE
held, attendance of the meeting held by the Nomination &ZRITTMAGHE MZIFEFHHEENT :
Committee is set out below:

Meetings
Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held
REZEEERE EEEE BT
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, ss, p (Chairman) BIE - wxmes xvFut () 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR S 5 A 2/2
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu ML IS £ 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRI 2/2
Ms. Yeung Chui HBRELL 2/2
Nomination Policy REABE

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors. Below are the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select

and recommend candidates for directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria

in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

(@)  Skills and Experience
The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge and
experience which are relevant to the operations of the

Company and its subsidiaries.

(b)  Diversity
Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the

Company and the balance of skills and experience in

board composition.

ARARERMAREBE EPIHARERELES
ZHEHEBRRE THARZZESERMRERIRE
ARBEFEZRAEFRBRE -

REER
REZEENREFESTESZEEEZ  BEETR
RIATEIEA

(@ RERZSR
ANBEAFEEARARENBRREXBIAH
ZEEE MEBRER -

) EEf
BRIEAR? REREBREEEEE B8
ELEUNARAESERAS TLRET
CESRE L PYS &3 LT
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(©)

(d)

(e)

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend board meetings and participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated
as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) and
will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the Nomination Committee should consider
the reason given by the candidate for being able to

devote sufficient time to the Board.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited that he/she has the
character, experience and integrity, and is able to
demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate

with the relevant position as a director of the Company.

Independence

The candidate to be nominated as an INED must satisfy
the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Nomination Procedures

(a)

If the Nomination Committee determines that an
additional or replacement director is required, the
Committee may take such measures that it considers
appropriate in connection with its identification and

evaluation of a candidate.

The Nomination Committee may propose to the Board a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to
the Board.

On making recommendation, the Nomination Committee
may submit the candidate’s personal profile to the Board
for consideration. The Board may appoint the candidate(s)
as director(s) to fill a casual vacancy(ies) or as an
addition to the Board or recommend such candidate to
(where

shareholders for election or re-election

appropriate) at the general meeting.

(©)

(d)

(e)

RAEH
ANBEBREABARHEEEEESTSSH%
WEMARSI N HIEEMEAEESHEAM
ZEB o LENREZARBEREABYL
FRTEFUHEERZELMBEAL L
TARIEERUK REZEEERZEZA
BREEAREEZGRATHAFHZRA -
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ANEURSEREREBBMARIMERA
AREFAGBEEOENE LREnk  XH
RARABRANT BB EARTDEEHBR -
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BRREABIHFEVWITEFTZARNLBRTE(E
BBMEXIMAERARES LMARNE33
WP 2 B S M AZ 2 o

RERF

(a)

MRLERRREREEIMEMABREE -
ZRRTRDARAEENESE KDER
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REZEEUIRNEFERRALALABRRE
BZALRRBZERALEREEES -

RELHRER REZEGUIRERTRR
ANBZEABEMEZERE EFEAEEZ
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BERAE LETETREE(WER) -
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the
Policy and diversity of the Board from time to time to ensure its

continued effectiveness and compliance with Listing Rules.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2019.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 31st March, 2019 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong.
It also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2019, four
meetings were held, attendance of the meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:

EZamESTILEE
ARAFCEMEFEXEZ TICBR(RED  E
FIREEFEREUNEFRESZTICLARAES
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TROER - Fit  XEREEER  KREFE &
FER R ABERBEE-
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T MRERBRTZERETE EHARA -

EREES
ERZBREMARRAZMAE-UBINFNTERA
B o

BREECZESRESE BXZENRERRE
ERADFEINEZBMNEE BEEEERN
KERBZEAEUARER RBAIEN ARE
BRAMEZERSG URMBERER BEFH
WEBEE T -NF=ZA=+-"BZFEUBHRX -

EZZEgEEMNEE T -AF=ZA=+—HIt
FENFHAREFES THAEBENEIBET
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FEMIRERFRDEBFRERTMAERE UERERX
BABLERGEEVBRENFEERNER K
B EEMERMEBEINBRS - FABKREEGE
TYMREHE  HEENT

Meetings
Audit Committee Members Attended/Held
EREEERE ERLE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) R IERE (FE) 4/4
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRA8 e & 4/4
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sgs, /P MINE - wzmes xFmt 4/4
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the
function to a senior management committee to perform the
corporate governance function. The scope of works of the

committee including the following:
J to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

J to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and

directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2019, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with

reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company.
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The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
senior management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The
Board determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be
taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the
overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least
annually, covering all material controls including financial,

operational and compliance controls.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Senior
Management identifies risks that would adversely affect the
achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and
prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and in performing the internal audit functions for
the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are
proposed for improvement. Significant internal control
deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board

on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are

taken.
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Risk management report and internal control report are
submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a
year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status

of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and considers the systems were

effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$2,742,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$382,000 was for other non-audit

services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company with effect from Tst April, 2019. He
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to
proper Board processes and the timely preparation and
dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas and
papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the
Company has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In
response to specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary
confirmed that he has complied with all the proposed
qualifications, experience and training requirements of the

Listing Rules.

Mr. Poon confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the business
of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner. The Group encourages all shareholders to
attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to

shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of
AGM.
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The Company has established the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been

posted to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.

Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting
(“SCGM”) are set out in the Company’s website. Shareholders
may send their enquires requiring the Board’s attention to the
Company’s principal place of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or by e-mail to enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the
procedures for convening or putting forward proposals at an
AGM or SGM may also be put to the Company by the same

means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was
adopted by the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to
determine (i) whether dividends are to be declared and paid;
and (ii) the level of the dividend to be paid to the shareholders.
It is the policy to allow the shareholders to participate in the

Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for future

growth.

RAAREHFTRFBABE  FIAZEERRLE
EMEAEENERNBARE URBRELAQAFANR
BREHEARF 2EE B FAEORE MRS
IHREEEHRAEENHE -

% 3R A

READAOAA REXEXERER HEA
RATDIPRT D —BRERARFNBRREG LREN
EFRERANBRER JERARAEEZAMARA
BRIRRARE -

ERARKRBFRGRBRE ARG ([HHXE])
ERNELREZFNEFF B ERR AR E] ML -
BRAMBFEEESSEINETABTERAR A AR
FERETELEEME MIABTBNETERRE
HB=FT-"RNEXZTEAE=ZBHREH =
enquiry@hkstarlite.com » & B A 5k RIE F K g sk
BREFIAGHNE LIRERZZNEFEMBETRA
AR R @A R FHRE -

ARARERMBLEERREEENFTEARER -
BEREERIFFDNMWAEEN  FHEL AW

z.

R B BUR

ARABERIBEHE MEFSTEHEN LK
REEMNEFFALES AARATOREBEREX
MR RAARFRBRR N ZBEKF - KA
AZBRREAFEABRDZFARBZMNE - FER
BEMZ FERHAMRKRER -

49




50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form
of any dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall

consider the following factors:
(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and

future development plans;
(iii)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(iv)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company;

(v)  the possible effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the
financial covenants to which the Group is subject and
any restrictions on the payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group’s lenders;
(vi)  shareholders’ interests;
(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
(viii) and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend is also subject to the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including the laws of Bermuda,
the financial reporting standards that the Group has adopted
and the Company’s Bye-Laws.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws during the year ended 31st March,
2019. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws is posted on the

websites of the Company and HKEX.

On behalf of the Board
Poon Kwok Ching

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2019
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 72, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Currently,
he is studying the Engineering Doctorate postgraduate
programme. Mr. Lam has been in community work in China
and Hong Kong for many years. He is a member of the
Standing Committee of the 10th, 11th and the 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a director of Chinese Overseas Friendship
Association, a member of Selection Committee for the
Government of HKSAR and a committee member of the Election
Committee Subsector Elections, Chairman of Mainland Affairs
Committee of Scout Association of Hong Kong, Chairman of
Polar Museum Foundation, Director of Future Star, an Adjunct
Professor of College of Business of City University of Hong
Kong and Director of Guangzhou Jinan University. Mr. Lam has
received several prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs
Award 1990”, “Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong
Kong Print Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2002. Mr. Lam has over 55 years’ experience in the printing
industry and takes charge of the overall planning, strategy and
development of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to
enhance the transformation of Starlite, business diversification,
products development, OBM product, intelligent (automation)

systems and “Internet +” business in recent years.

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 55, joined the Group in September 1981.
He was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Tin has over 38
years’ experience in the operation and management of package
printing companies and he has been responsible for the overall
planning and daily operations of the Group in the PRC. Mr. Tin

has been a standing director of the Shenzhen Printing Industry

Association since 2015.
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Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, aged 41, joined the Group in September
2006. He was appointed as Executive Director; the Company
Secretary of the Company; an Authorised Representative of the
Company; the Senior Vice President (Chief Financial Officer) of
the Group; and a director of certain subsidiaries within the
Group with effect from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Poon graduated
from The University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration and he has extensive
experience in the fields of audit and accounting. Mr. Poon is a
Management Accounting Expert appointed by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC, a Committee Member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou City
Haizhu District, an Associate Member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow Member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon
has also received a Commendation awarded by the Home
Affairs Bureau of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC in 2018.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 72, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1st
September, 2011. She has over 50 years’ experience in the

printing industry.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 62, joined the Group in February
1990. He has been re-designated as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company with effect from T1st April, 2019. Mr. Tai
graduated from the Graphics Art Department of the Chinese
Culture University of Taiwan in 1978 and has over forty years’
experience in the printing industry. Mr. Tai has been appointed
as a member of SAC/TC170 Standardization Administration of
China in Printing Industry and a member of the Packaging
Printing Technical Subcommittee SAC/TC170/SC3. Mr. Tai is
also an assessor on the Qualifications Framework of the Printing

Industry of the Hong Kong Vocational Training Council.

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 63, joined the Group in
early 1997. He has been re-designated as a Non-Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 1st April, 2019. He
has held various senior positions in finance, accounting and

auditing fields for more than 33 years. Mr. Cheung graduated

from The Hongkong Polytechnic University and is an Associate
Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants.

EEKEBHN

BEREE RFEON+—F R_FTNFALAM
AXEE BTN FHA-BAE HEZEAR
ARAZHTES  ARARAWE  ARAIRE
R ARESRARR(ERVBE)  RAKE
ETHWEARZER BFEEREEREBRE &
BEIREEBLEU EFALEAFTIEHEE
ERB -WATHEMBMEANEESHAANER
TEARBABESEBRBMTEREEZESELE -
EREHMAEGEREERTEANAGERS
B-BEEN_Z- \FEREFTBFITHER
BEBBREMR -

HBITES

BREz+ BRFELT B BRAKHEHARAZ -
ME—E——FNA-RBEAARFAZHITESH
BAEATES wRORTXEIBAEL T F&
o

BHEExEE BEA+t_m R—ANAZEF_AM
ARNE®R MWEZT—NFHNA—BRERABRALAA
AERTEZ -BELEER - NENFEEREEF
BE(ERESBEORER LORTEEEBBAN T F
K BEAEEZCAEEIDRNSEELCETZES
SAC/TC170% 8 » 2B RlIZ A Hi% o o [F I 15 &
TAZEDREE(EZBERERN D AU
TC170/SC3Z B - b th i B BB E I KB Z T AR
TEEBERBENTZE -

REREE RESAT=Zm B - AAEFEMAR
SE-tMB T NFOA-REABRAADA K
HITES REBB=T=FRHHERUB Gk
BATTELEER -RELBEXNBEBEIKRE
REEGHMASEERERBHEHMASER

m=l

o
5 =
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 67, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan was the former
Chairman and is currently the non-executive director of the
publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong Kong.
He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings
Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pacific
Textiles Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International)
Limited, Modern Dental Group Limited, and Human Health
Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a double major
degree in Sociology and Political Science, a Master degree in
City Planning from the University of Manitoba, an Honorary
Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, and is bestowed
as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan currently
serves on the council of the Hong Kong Management
Association, the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services
Association, as well as being the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Marketing. He has many years of
professional experience in the public sector and over 30 years’
managerial experience in the food and catering industry.

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp, aged 63, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Kwok is a
practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He is qualified to practise as
a solicitor in Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is
also qualified as a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia and a
Chartered Accountant in England and Wales. He graduated from
the University of Sydney, Australia with bachelor’s degrees in
economics and laws respectively as well as a master’s degree in
laws. He also obtained the Advanced Management Program
Diploma from the Harvard Business School. He has served
regularly on Government boards and committees. He is
currently a member of the Committee on Real Estate Investment
Trusts of the Securities and Futures Commission and the
Hospital Government Committee of the Prince of Wales
Hospital. Previously, he served as Chairman of the Transport
Advisory Committee and Independent Police Complaints
Council, Convenor of the Disciplinary Appeals Committee of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Chairman of the Traffic
Accident Victims Assistance Advisory Committee and Vice-

Chairman of the Consumer Council.
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Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 70, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty Executive
Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a Past President of The Society of
Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an
independent non-executive director of certain listed companies
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, namely, CCT Fortis Holdings Limited, Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord Grand (Group)
Limited, Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited, West
China Cement Limited, BeijingWest Industries International

Limited, Greater Bay Area Investments Group Holdings Limited

and Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BIZEABRE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEXEEERARAKRE
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) (REREIMKRINER QR
Opinion R

What we have audited EFEETHNAR

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings ZXKEBEERAFTATHEHBIERFD) REWMER
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set Al UA THWIEERE ] JIH N Fe4Z128 iAW

out on pages 64 to 192, which comprise: Bk BF:

. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st  ® REZE-NF=A=+—HOEaHBHHRRE
March, 2019;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ® BEZRALFENGERER
ended;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for — ® BEZAILIFENFESZEKERX

the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the ¢ BEZRLFENGARREBE

year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then  ® BEZAILIFENGEARSRER K

ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which  ® RAMBRENT  BREZSHBREME -

include a summary of significant accounting policies.
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March, 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.
Key audit matters are identified in our audit as follows:

J Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment

and land use rights; and

. Provision for inventories obsolescence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matter
HREETSER

B M B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMNEFTNAEEBAREEHER

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use rights

ME-BERREARTIHBEAEZRERE

Refer to Notes 4(a), 14 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements

R A Y EREN iF4a) - 14815

The Group has approximately HK$357.6 million of
property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and land use
rights (“LUR”) as at 31 March 2019, of which
approximately HK$85.2 million, HK$220.9 million
and HK$49.5 million are related to the Group’s
production plant and machinery and LUR in eastern
and southern China and Malaysia respectively. The
Group’s eastern and southern China segments and
Malaysia are three separate Cash Generating Units,
all suffering from a loss after tax of approximately
HK$13.6 million, HK$2.8 million and HK$9.4 million
respectively (before any impairment) for the year
ended 31st March, 2019. The recovery of the
economic performance of the assets in eastern China
were slower than expected, while for southern China
and Malaysia, the economic performance of the
assets were worse than expected due to the
deterioration in the operating efficiency and gross
margin as well as intense competition. Therefore the
possibility of impairment of these assets is an area of
focus for management.
EEER-_ZT-NAF=ZA=+—"A0YPX BERK
RE(TWE BERRBDUAR L EBE( L
ERENDOR=ZBATLtEARTEEL HP Y
NTFTREZ+TEBAEL —B_FTZEATEBTEK
MTFABE+EELE BEEESRINER EH
EERATHEERE RBEARLBERES
Bl BERBENER EFLSKATIBA=EE
YHReELEBMU —E-AF=ZR=+—-HBILFE
BHEHREEER 2R -—TF=Za " +8ET
“TANTEBARABOTEETORERG) -
EROBEELBRAMNERSRRERRE M
FEMOMESRACTEENKRBERRENTEY A
BEREREMNKEZURBUBT ZFEER
ENAREREEENETER-

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s assessment of
the recoverable amount of the PP&E and LUR, we performed
the following procedures:
REFEERBENGENYE BERREBAR L EREN K
EEERGEER  RETTUTERS:

o We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with supporting
evidence for the PP&E and LUR in eastern and southern
China and Malaysia.

RERREAULRSROASHNE BERIKBEARL
WEREMS  BRMAXEBRI R XHEREE HERE
P38 Al B0 R B HE AR HE 7T AF B o

o We involved our in-house valuation expert in assessing
the methodology of management’s impairment assessment
based on the value in use calculation and the key
assumptions used in the management’s impairment
assessment of the PP&E and LUR.
BMHBAMGEESRIHEREREEREETED
BMEFMGETEAREEERDE BEERBARLHE
R ERT AP ERMBERER -
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Key Audit Matter
HREETSER

B M B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMNEFTNAEEBAREEHER

Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use rights (continued)

ME-BERRBUARLBERAE ZRERE (B

The value in use of these PP&E and LUR is
determined by management based on the future cash
flow generated by these assets. Management assessed
the recoverable amount of the PP&E and LUR in
eastern and southern China and Malaysia separately
as three Cash Generating Units, and based on value
in use, an additional impairment charge of
approximately HK$10,000,000 is recognised for
eastern China in the current year.
EEERBEZEEEMELNRARE S REETE Z
EME BELRREBALRTHERAENERAEE-
EREFEERMNEAULERASZ=ZEBIRE
ELEEMOME BELRBALLEBEDA
WEEE MEREREE AFERERERE
SN B 1 52 4910,000,0007% 7T ©

We focused on this area because judgemental factors
are involved in management’s impairment assessment
as the determination of the recoverable amount of
the PP&E and LUR is based on various key
assumptions and estimates such as growth of sales,
production costs, selling and administrative expenses,
capital expenditure etc., and discount rates used in
the cash flow forecasts.

BRI EER U - B E R E R E R E & 405 R A
MEAZ BDHREEDNE BERKBEUA R L
ERENTTREEEREERZRBERBRER Y AREK
MEOMGE FIMEE EEKAE  HERTHRFA
X BAXHENER KRASREBAUMERD
=K

. For value in wuse calculations, we assessed the

management’s impairment assessments based on the
future cash flow forecasts, by comparing growth rate to
the underlying assumptions in the latest Board approved
budgets and the discount rate to the cost of capital for
the Company and comparable organisations. We tested
the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
management’s impairment assessments derived from the
forecast models and assessed key inputs in the
calculations by reference to management’s approved
budgets. We also checked the key data of management’s
approved budgets by reference to third parties information
such as purchase orders, and we assessed the historical
reliability of the budgets.
MREMEEMEMS HMEBEK EARRMEES
EHANTREDNWHEBEBRRNERERESKANIR
REAELBRABLE EMAGEREERERKRRE
MEBRAETHRENGE RMANATERERABAR
HEHMRENGEFINRBERE Y2EETEEN
BUERTFGEFENRERBARE RAT2ERE
AESE-FENRESERENSIERE MRS
WHFREERNESL AT EME -

o We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessments based on the cash flow forecasts by
considering the variables and fluctuations in those
underlying key assumptions.
BMTEREEEHERBRNEZI LD REEE
RIBEARKIR SR E TR E TR BTG AIAE R SRR
TTHRE DT -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
key assumptions and estimates made by management in

assessing the impairment of PP&E and land use rights to be

supportable.
REBALFFETOREF RMRASEERBERTEHDE BER
HEAR L E AR E S AR -
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Key Audit Matter
HREETSER

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEZRE

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements

BRHGE AL 18

At 31st March, 2019, the Group held inventories of
approximately HK$127,278,000, with provision of
inventory obsolescence of approximately
HK$19,463,000. Among these inventories, there are
raw materials of approximately HK$58,582,000, work
in progress of approximately HK$24,100,000, and
finished goods of HK$44,596,000. Inventories are
stated at lower of cost or net realisable value.
RZZE-—AF=A=+—H8 EEERFEFEN
127,278,00078 7T * )& 18 % & 47 819,463,000/ 7T ° 1£
ZEFEF - BRME 4 /58,582,0008 T EHMmA
£24,100,0007% 7T+ N &K G 4 544,596,0007%8 TT °
TFE AR AT B FEDNR -

Management assessed the provision for inventory
obsolescence periodically based on consideration of
potential obsolescence and slow moving of raw
materials and work in progress, and the estimated
selling price less cost to sell of its finished goods.
The identification of inventory obsolescence and
determination of estimated selling price less cost to
sell require the use of significant judgements by
considering various factors, including their nature,
ageing, and the latest selling price.
EEERBHEERERFHOEM B RERM
UERARR NG EEREEXNANE R EH
HEREFENRE - BHIREFEREEMGE
BRHERAAEREAAGTEERZHARAE &
EHEE BREREHEE -

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision
for inventory obsolescence required management

judgements on estimates of future demands and

ageing of the inventories.
HMEURHEREFFR RHXREFERES
REREHFENRRELRE I G 1E LA E -

B M B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMNEFTNAEEBAREEHER

In assessing the appropriateness of management’s assessment of
the provision for inventory obsolescence, we performed the
following procedures:
RAHEREFGNREFERERTRER  HIAETTH
TEF

o We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls on
management’s periodic assessment of provision for
inventory obsolescence across the Group.

BMUTH FERAGAEREECHIAL EEERES
BERERERIES -

o We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory aging by
comparing the inventory records with the underlying
documents.

BBt R FERSEBEXT  mElAFEEER -

o We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various raw
materials and work in progress, on a sample basis, to
assess the appropriateness of the associated provision
made, if any.
BHAMERRSBERY AR ERRERNERBR A
FHEPTEREE G (B EERE -

o We reviewed the subsequent sales of finished goods. We
tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent selling price of
different products and compared with the average unit
costs.

BMESHRREROBEE RAMKARTRERE
BOEELEFIGEMKAIELER -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
estimates made by management in assessing the provision for
inventory obsolescence to be supported by available evidence.
REBALPAETHERF RMRAERENTGREXTHEE
ERBEMEFHO [T ERSRESS -
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the “Corporate Information”, “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Chairman’s Letter”, “Financial Summary”, “Report
of the Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report”, and
“Management Profile” (but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”, which is

expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the audit
committee and take appropriate action considering our legal

rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

B M B R

Hittf5 8

BERREFAYEMEREE HMES2EHM
EAZBMBEAAMNSOIRBAER]  [E/FR
Sl lxFmEt] I¥BEHE] TEFga®ms]
XErMmEIRIEEREGNI(ETREGREME
BERREMOZEMRE)  ARFEHBEERRE
B E BEMENIRE tekERAREINNE

B o

o

BMPEEAMBRENERL TREEMES &K
MBI HZEEMEEERTATANER
i o

BABRMERAMBRERNET RANETEH
BEMES HUBET ZEHEMELEES ELR
EHMBRERIRMNERTBETATHROBAEAE
EREBEXEUTFEEAEREANER -

AERBMYERZEARSE B ARG EMESHR
WIWIE WREMRBRASEMEEFEEKNER
Rt AT EREZFE-TETE LA
EAHE -

BERMBEIRE e RERMEIE UREM
REEPEAEEAHRRL RMFTEBAHEER
HERZEGRE  XWERBEMOERENMEB
REGEETH -

ESRERZEERGRAMBBERAREN
BE
ERAFEFABEREEEGHMASRANGE
BB E R R E R ARG 8 3% EE R E
BEEMTENRAMBHRE UTHERARER
EMBRENBMETFEARRFRERMERDN
ERERBGAAFOABIZHEE -




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s i

B M B

EREFREVBRRE EFaEFM EKEF
BREMEN THEERABATHREASBELZSR
MNER UREARKECERSER KRIFE
EEER ESEBERFLEE HNEEME
BREERTER-

EREEERAREE BESENMBHRSEE-

RBMR BT GREMBERREAENER

HPMBER RYHSGAVBERRERRESIFAERH
REFFRERMBMNEAFERRABBAERRE
THABEHRMEROZEMBRS - HMAERERD
RE-NN—F(RBE)FEOKA BT (HERER)
BERMWEL BEZIABEREEME -
BEMTERAREONATEEFMEMALE Bl
EENET - aBRIFSSKFOHRE  BTEER
FRB(EBEFEIETOER; EX -EKRH
SRRt 7 A B 48 B2 35 3R o B8 AR BRI T DA ey BRFF sk
Rel MREEEMEMEBIELLKATER
BREVBRREBEXRBESUBRERMEHD
EERE - BB R EREBOR T AR EERX -

ERB(EABFRMEADETEFOBRES  HE
RTEXRAE R TEXRRERE - LT

. A MFAEANRFRERTERSEATTH
BERFEERERBANEER - Rt RATT
EFEFAREELRR A RERTEM
HEEMNETRE FREAMEINER -AR
BT RER RE ERER ERR
i SEERAENES Z £ Bt REEEHRE
BREMBHMBEAERRANAR SN REE
BHEASERMERMERE RO RR -

. TRHREEFEBONEES ARTEED
EiRRFOBEMALIEYE BESEAZEHN
BHHEBEXRER -
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J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

B M B R

. HEEEMRAGTRENREERFELSE
FHEFH AR B & B

. HESRAFALLSTERNBEEER
Ewm o REMENNEN RS BEIROFE
HEBRXBRABENERNTEEE MW

Y EXENBEKLERIELEX
%EF% CMRHBMBRBFEERTHEL A
BEEZEMBEPREERELIEREY
BHETOERRE BEEHENRETR
ARMEEERFERBEER -RMNER
EENZEAMRE B ARG ETRE
A RRFHEKIERAELEE EEBEHE
FERE -

. FEFAMBRROBEBIHL A ABN
W@’&%ﬁﬁ'uﬁﬁé%%ﬁﬁmﬁ¢ﬁ
RBRZZMER -

. # OEERNERIERTONNBE &
BAER BENENRE UWEHEETER
XEXRER -BMBE E5EEEHNIM-
EEMBIT RMABHNERAEETTE-

BHROFRIN RMEEREZESBRTAHENSE
FEEHRETE BEAEAERE BERME
25t AP AR A AR A I A (£ ] BB KRR BA -

BMERNEZZESRIEN FAKRMENTESR
B MNAREXER2ER YR MBARN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Cheung Yuk Ting, Mabel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2019

B M B

NHBRZZEFEANERTD  RARERLER
HAMGAMBREANENSREZ  AMBKH
REFFR - RMAERBMBEFHEAELSER
BIEZEBERTANARABREELER  HEZR
FEREMBEAT MRAEERERMRESHEBRE
FHERNBERRBBEENARMNE - HADR
ETEERSTBERZER-

HEABUREMBENEFREARAZRERS -

EORKESTMERM
HEETA

B —E-AFERXAZ+HAR
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2019

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains/(losses) — net

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Net impairment losses on financial assets

Operating loss
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Loss before income tax

Income tax expense

Loss for the year attributable to the
owners of the Company

Losses per share attributable to the owners
of the Company for the year (expressed
in HK cents per share)

— Basic

— Diluted

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

LN
HERA

EZRi]

mEWER

RE-F-AFZA=+—AILEE

Note
Ff 51

Hiples,/(F518) — B8

HERDHER
— R R ATE B X

TREEREBRFE

REBR
A A A
AR

AR — FHE

BB AR
P15 %52 F XX

11

FREATEFTABEER

FARRBEEANEMNEK
&8 (FBRIAE L Z7)

—&R

—#g

12

Year ended 31st March,
BE=A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FHT
1,430,998 1,533,094
(1,183,088) (1,287,456
247,910 245,638
2,510 (3,456)
(81,488) (97,351)
(177,653) (184,914)
(5,785) (2,196)
(14,506) (42,279)

721 443
(10,563) (7,813)
(9,842) (7,370)
(24,348) (49,649)
(13,577) (4,787)
(37,925) (54,436)
(7.22) (10.37)

(7.22) (10.37)

bt AR A e 5 e BLIE P 2 MY RE — GRARGT o




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  4r & 2 H W &= &

For the year ended 31st March, 2019

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Increase in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Increase in fair value of equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to

the owners of the Company

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

RE-F-AFZAS+—AILEE

Year ended 31st March,

=A=+—-BLEE
2019 2018
—E-hFE ZZ—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAET
FRER (37,925) (54,436)
Hih2mEKE:
Al GEEH 7 X2 1 m H)TH H
AREESREEZAN
BEIZ M — 532
ERER (26,387) 42,815
TEE P HZ B EA
BEARBEGFAEMEE
WERERE 2 AR
BEEE M 115 —
FRNEMEE (BB
B 35 1% (26,272) 43,347
FRAEATHEEAELEZEA
BEAR (64,197) (11,089)
bR A 2 U E R FE BRI 2 B i — GHARBE -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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66 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION SREMBRREK
As at 31st March, 2019 RZE—hF=A=+—H
As at 31st March,
R=A=+—8H
2019 2018
ZE-RAFE T N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 TERT FET
ASSETS aE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Land use rights o+ b {5 A A 14 20,491 22,558
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR 15 337,117 358,664
Prepayments for non-current assets EMBEERMNRK 2,149 6,425
Deferred income tax assets BEIEFTSMEE 23 4,152 3,818
Financial assets at fair value through RALEBEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income KWHENEeREE 17 2,005 —
Financial assets at fair value through BRANEEFABEZNS
profit or loss MEE 17 13,137 —
Available-for-sales financial assets AN ESREE 17 — 14,690
Long-term bank deposit RERITHER 20 — 1,312
379,051 407,467
Current assets RBEE
Inventories ey 18 127,278 146,815
Trade and bill receivables BESRBERREE 19 214,666 238,326
Prepayments and deposits BNREBELRES 19 29,278 31,058
Tax recoverable AT Uk [ FT 15 F 3k 85 4,041
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 MFRBEHEBB =
months from date of deposits REIBZRITER 20 15,950 15,165
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeEE 20 249,982 314,233
637,239 749,638
Total assets HmEE 1,016,290 1,157,105
EQUITY 1
Equity attributable to the owners of the ADRERABGEESR
Company
Share capital N 24 52,514 52,514
Reserves it 26 416,097 480,294
Total equity Yk 468,611 532,808




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
As at 31st March, 2019

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred revenue

Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and bill payables
Contract liabilities
Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings
Accruals and other payables

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

&1E

FRBEE

A

AR A
BEFREHEE

REBAE

FEMBEMRRE
R-_ZE—h&F=ZA=+—H

Note
Ff 51

21

23

BSRNERLER 22

BHAIE
BHmERasE
BAa

21

&t B 1B T H N R

IR PN

BEAE

BERABERAE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 192 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 28th June, 2019 and

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
K a0
Chairman

TE

As at 31st March,

W=A=+-8
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FHT
— 110,369
861 1,152
6,422 7,260
7,283 118,781
128,894 184,612
1,765 -
26,416 20,621
214,091 139,674
169,015 160,379
215 230
540,396 505,516
547,679 624,297
1,016,290 1,157,105

bt AR A B TR0 2R e S BE MY 2 B R — GHAET o

FA4BERINAEZGA

HHHBEER =

“tTNAREEESRERRERES -

Poon Kwok Ching
EER
Director

BF

Z-hEXA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2019

Balances at 31st March, 2017 and
at 1st April, 2017

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balances at 31st March, 2018 and
at 1st April, 2018

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive loss,
net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance at 31st March, 2019

R=B—t#F
=ZA=+-AR
—®-tEmA-A
e

EQEEE
FAEA

Hfth 2 H W &
AHHESREE
ZREEEN
ERER

Ht 2 a8 AR
— BRBi#

FAREBEER

R-ZZT—NF
=A=t+t—-HBERk
—ZEZ-N\F¥WmAB—H
e

EFEEE
FAEIA

H 2 H W a8
mARBEFAREL
FEEENERERE
Z A EEE N
ERER

Hitt2HEEARE
— BRB&

FAZEBREEHE

R-ZZE—hE&E
=A=+—H#&#%

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

REeREEgEHR
RE-F-AFZA=+—AILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RORER AR

Share capital Reserves Total
@S & & Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET
52,514 491,383 543,897
— (54,436) (54,436)

— 532 532

— 42,815 42,815

— 43,347 43,347
— (11,089) (11,089)

52,514 480,294 532,808
— (37,925) (37,925)

— 115 115
— (26,387) (26,387)
— (26,272) (26,272)

— (64,197) (64,197)

52,514 416,097 468,611

Litir AR BB R EBEN 2 MR — O 4B -




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st March, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas income tax paid
Overseas income tax refunded

Hong Kong profits tax refunded

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Investments in available-for-sale financial
assets

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Decrease/(increase) in long-term bank
deposit

Increase in short-term bank deposits with
maturity over 3 months from the date
of deposits

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term bank loans
Repayments of long-term bank loans
Proceeds from short-term bank loans

Repayments of short-term bank loans

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing

activities

SGERERER

RE-F-AFZAS+—AILEE

REFDZHRERE
BREEBELEZRER
ENFE
ENEBMER
BENEINTEH
BREBINEH
EREFBMNEMN

REEZHELEZRESFE

REEFBZRERE
BEWE BEREE

RARAHHESREE

HEME BERERBHZ
GIRCT N
RBMRITER 2B
(48 on)

Bl =EARS e
R1T 7KL AN

[RE PSS

RELTHMAZREFE

MEEFDZRERE
MBRITRAER
BERTERHPER
G RITIE BB X
BERITEBPERL

MEES (A EE
ZHBEFE

Year ended 31st March,

=A=1+—-HLEE
2019 2018
—E-AE —ZTN\#F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
F 52 FTHET FHET
27(a) 51,515 57,630
(10,563) (7,813)
(1,844) (3,984)
(4,475) (3,133)
— 1,600
2,068 18
36,701 44,318
(55,294) (51,740)
— (3,522)
27(b) 317 599
1,312 (1,312)
(785) (1,059)
721 443
(53,729) (56,591)
50,000 130,000
(96,762) (83,443)
126,119 99,064
(113,084) (84,641)

(33,727) 60,980
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70 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #ZEHERER
For the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE-_Z-NF=ZA=+—BLEE

Year ended 31st March,

=A=tT-ALEE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-)N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

B E TERT FET
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BHeRBLEEZEHE

equivalents G 4) /1 0 (50,755) 48,707
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning £ 2RERBELEE

of the year 314,233 250,334
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash RBekBeFHEZERL

equivalents (&18) /W= (13,496) 15,192
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FRZAERAEEHE

the year 20 249,982 314,233

E
o)
i
k>
=
fo

R EBENT 2 PR —GFARRS

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read — Eift4x

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmentally friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda and its

principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect Industrial

Victoria Street,

Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares have been listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial asset at fair value through other

comprehensive income which are carried at fair

value.
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72 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B B K M =

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRBEE
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)

BREBY B MEERFREA VB R
RARMETIZGR G EEERN
BRAASE G BERE - IAE I E -
R E A E AR B R A MR
REZWBE KA E T M E4m 3

==

policies. The areas involving a higher degree of [

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

Note 4.

(a) FEEBERNZHER BER
BEERIETH

(a) New standards, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards adopted
by the Group

AEBR-_Z-N\FMOA-—BiE

MHEEEERRMT I HE

A - RBLRREEWERTA

The following new standards, interpretation
and amendments to existing standards have
been adopted by the Group for the first time
for the financial year beginning 1st April,

2018:

Annual Improvements  Annual Improvements FEMEBRBEE 2014F-2016F
Project HKFRS 1 2014-2016 Cycle B T 4R 5 2R Az FENE
and HKAS 28 FIRRER

R AR E28%

Amendments to Classification and ERUBREED URHRERZ

HKFRS 2 Measurement of Share- 25 2 BET NRRHGZHE
based Payment Kitg
Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial ERUBRELD HEBUBRES
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4 FARZIER] BB F4F R
Insurance Contracts ANERER
B 4R 2RI
FORERMIE
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ERUBRELL eMIA
£95,
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with ERUBRELL HEFIZHNEGRE
Customers E155 EEMBA

Amendments to Clarifications to HKFRS 15 ERUBRELL FHEUBRELER
HKFRS 15 F155ZER] F15] 2B

Amendments to Transfer of Investment B g £ BREREME
HKAS 40 Property F40% 2 B85

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions EE(ERMBR  HIBRHREN

and Advance Consideration LERBZEE) RE

— REE5




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@) New standards, interpretation and

amendments to existing standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)
Detailed impact of adoption of HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15 were disclosed in Note 2.2. The
adoption of other amendments did not have
any material impact on the current period or
any prior period and is not likely to affect
future periods.

(b)  New standards, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards have been
issued but not effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group
A number of new standards, interpretation
and amendments to existing standards are
effective for annual periods beginning after
1st April, 2018 and have not been applied
in preparing these consolidated financial
statements.

Fae)

2

2.1

(b)

Bt 75 R MY &

R RRAR (F)
REE R (R)
@ FEEERKZHEL  BER
B A W5 ()
B 40 % 8 B 75 9 5 R B B9 R

BRUBRSENFISROEE

ZHBRTIIME22RKE - &
MEMERT AL E ﬁﬁHﬂFEjjﬂfﬂ

BEREDLEEEMNEATE
RAKRARER B K KEHE -

B AEGREMR X E A
EERAHER  BBERER
BRI 1EET &

ZIEMEN REBERBREEENN
BAAR-_ZT-NFUA—Hi
FEHREER  BRERLE
RaMBmMREDARER -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after

FEAEMSA

RUBENR

Amendments to Annual Improvements Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle 1st January, 2019
Pro

B E A 2 2015520177 B 2 F 1 i —ET-nE—A—8

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1st January, 2019

BBGERE195 2 BT FHBRMER] MR AEE —E-hF—A—H

Amendments to HKAS 28 L0n§ -term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1st January, 2019

BE G ERE285 2 &7 BN =N EhEZRMES —E-hAF—HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1st January, 2019

BB B MEERER 2 ERT 5%@%@1@23@1‘1‘%% —E-hnF—A—H

HKFRS 16
BRMGERE LR B 165

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

lnterpretatlon

aAF (BERVBREREEZES)
@ —%237}?;

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018
—E-N\FUBREZHSER

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 8 -
B LR B R ESH 2 1EFT

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BAMBREERFEIR BT X EE

Amendments to HKFRS 17 N
BEVBREENE179 2 ERT

Amendments to HKFRS10 and HKAS 28

Reporting

Mz B

REEH

ﬁﬂﬁi&izﬂ“f

Definition of Material

Insurance Contracts

Leases (new standard)

HE £

Definition of a Business

Uncertainty over Income tax Treatments (new

BRI HE L 2 RE (28

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial

RIBRIER

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

1st January, 2019
—"LE—A—H

1st January, 2019
—T-NAF—A—H

Tst January, 2020
—ETF—-A—H

Tst January, 2020
—E-_TF¥—H—H

—= =

Tst January, 2020
—E_FF—H—H

—= =

Tst January, 2021
~2-—%—H-8

—_=_

To be determined

and its Associate or Joint Venture

ERYBREEANE105E R BB

B 552857 Z & AT =

REEAHEBENRSIALLELHNEENSE

BRERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards have been
issued but not effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (Continued)

The Group has commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new standards,
interpretation and amendments to existing
standards. Except as discussed below, the
Group is not yet in a position to state
whether they would have a significant
impact on its results of operations and

financial position.

HKFRS 16, “Leases” effective for financial

years beginning on or after 1st April, 2019

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position by lessees, as
the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals
are recognised. In the consolidated income
statement, rental expenses are not recognised
while amortisation arising from the right-of-
use assets and interest expense on the lease
liabilities are recognised. The only
exceptions are short-term and low-value
leases.

The accounting for lessors will not

significantly change.

e M BRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards have been
issued but not effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16, “Leases” effective for financial
years beginning on or after 1st April, 2019
(Continued)

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for Group’s operating leases. As
at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$5,526,000 (Note 28).
management’s initial assessment, the initial
adoption of HKFRS 16 in the future will

Based on

result in an increase in the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities, which is expected
to result in an increase in both assets and
liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The adoption will also
front-load the expense recognition in the
consolidated income statement over the
period of the leases, as a result of the
combination of the interest expenses arising
from the lease liabilities and the amortisation
of the right-of-use assets as compared to the

rental expenses under existing standard.

Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its
mandatory adoption date of 1st April, 2019.
The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to
first adoption. All right-of-use assets will be
measured at the amount of the lease liability

on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or

accrued lease expenses).

e M BRRME

2 EESTERERMEGE

2.1 WEEZE(E)

(b)

B AETREMR X EBIAK
ERRARIIER 2 EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKFRS 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the

Group’s financial statements.

The Group elected to adopt HKFRS 9 and HKFRS
15 without restating comparatives. The
reclassifications and the adjustments are therefore
not reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31st March, 2018, but are

recognised in the opening consolidated statement

of financial position on 1st April, 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B FE 3R &k M & 77

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 EBRBEEE(E)
The following tables show the adjustments TREJNZHE-HACEIANAE -
recognised for each individual line item. Line items BENBEINRESHTENIER - Bt
that were not affected by the changes have not IR e/ Net A S BERIBIATRZ
been included. As a result, sub-totals and totals FIMBFEFTESL - HEHEEER
disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers MAHRERET T B RAHA

provided. The adjustments are explained in more

detail by standard below:

Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position 31st March, Effect of Effect of 1st April,
(extract) 2018 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 2018
FREMBMRR K (FH) BERUH BERUH

—E-N\F BEER BEEL —T-N\E
ZA=t—-H H9RNFE FHHRENRE mA—H

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET FAT FAT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Available-for-sale AHEESREE
financial assets (“AFS”) 14,690 (14,690) — —
Financial assets at fair BAREETABRN
value through profit ERWEAE
or loss (“FVPL") — 12,800 — 12,800
Financial assets at fair BAREETAEM
value through other FERGENERMEE
comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) — 1,890 — 1,890
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrual and other EEBBEREEMR
payables 160,379 — (1,582) 158,797
Contract liabilities aHaE — — 1,582 1,582
Equity i
Investment revaluation RESHHE
reserve 2,304 (2,364) — —
Retained earnings 1R BR  Fl — 1,210 — 1,210
FVOCI revaluation BAREETAEM
reserve PHUENEREE

ZEGREE — 1,154 — 1,154




78 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GEMBHRME
2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEMREBE &)
(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 EBRBEEE(E)
[0} HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Impact [0} EBYBIREEREIR LM T
of adoption B - FRpzH&
HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS39 EEVBRELAFSFRRE
that related to the recognition, classification & g 2R %39%%5@@@?@
and measurement of financial assets and &ﬁmﬂﬁ{ﬁ ERER - HERAE
financial liabilities, derecognition of financial RIEBREBMIE SRMEEMR
instruments, impairment of financial assets BERETETEBEORT -
and hedge accounting.
The adoption of HFKRS 9 Financial BE-Z-NFHA-BERNE
Instruments from 1st April, 2018 resulted in B BHREENFESR 2RI A
changes in accounting policies and LREAHRREEDRAREE
adjustments to the amount recognised in the HHBRRACHERO DR - FaT
consolidated financial statements. The HEBEBRIATHF29RNEF -
changes in accounting policies are set out in
Note 2.9 below.
(a)  Classification and measurement (@) DRI E
On 1st April, 2018 (the date of initial RZZE-N\FOA—-B
application of HKFRS9), the Group’s R JE R &S B S R A A
management has assessed which FoRzBH) A&EHZ
business models apply to the financial EREBETMAEEMF
assets held by the Group and has FEAREMEENES
classified its financial instruments into B - ITHEBMEES A
the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. EFBY B RS EQFR
The main effects resulting from the mAEMNER -BF OB
reclassification are as follow: TEFEMT
AFS FVPL FVOCI
BERAAEE
BAREHE FTAEM
AHHE FABREN 2EWEH
SREE EWMEE ERMEE
Note HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FET FET FET
Closing balance as at R-_F—-N¥=H
31st March, 2018 =t —HERHE
— HKAS 39 — BB EEA
£395% 14,690 — —
Reclassify investments HAMLEEREESE
from AFS to FVPL MoBERANEE
FRABEMNEREE
NE&E (i) (12,800) 12,800 —
Reclassify investments HAMLESREREE
from AFS to FVOCI FoORERAREE
FAAEMEEEED
SRAENRE (i) (1,890) — 1,890
Opening balance as at R-Z—-N\FMA—H
1st April, 2018 HYthE — FEMG
— HKFRS 9 s E R R I5R — 12,800 1,890




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & Bi 75 3% 3% Bt &% 79

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE
(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 EBRBEEE(E)
(i) HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Impact (i) EBUBHEEREIF @I

of adoption (Continued) A — R zZ& (&)

(a)  Classification and measurement (a) HEREE(E)
(Continued)
The impact of these changes on the WERESPHAEE R 2
Group’s equity is as follows: FEMT
Effect on Effect on
investment FVOCI Effect on
revaluation revaluation retained
reserve reserve earnings
RAAREE
PN ]
2EKREN
cRMEE
REE R EfRAE REEF
REZEE zHE ZEE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FAET FET
Closing balance as at R-ZZ—-N\¥=H
31st March, 2018 =+ —BEARHE
— HKAS 39 — BE G ER
3958 2,364 — —
Reclassify investments HAMttEemERE
from AFS to FVPL EFDBRERAR
BEFABZOHSR
BENRE (i) (1,210 — 1,210
Reclassify investments RAftEEeREES
from AFS to FVOCI MOBERAAEE
FTAHMETUE D
SMEENKRE (i) (1,154) 1,154 —
Opening balance as at WR-ZZE—-N\FMA—H
1st April, 2018 M — YK
— HKFRS 9 & R FE 5% — 1,154 1,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
@) HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Impact
of adoption (Continued)
(a) Classification and measurement
(Continued)
(i) Reclassification from AFS to
FVPL

Certain debt investments were
reclassified from available-for-
sale financial assets to financial
assets at FVPL (HK$12,800,000
as at Tst April, 2018). They do
not meet the HKFRS 9 criteria
for classification at amortised
cost, because their cash flows
do not represent solely
payments of principal and
interest. The accumulated fair
value gains of HK$1,210,000
recorded in the previous years
have been reclassified from
investment revaluation reserve
to retained earnings on st
April, 2018.

e M BRRME

EESHBREEE)

22 BEHBEE5H(H)

BB BEHEERFIHRE£MT
B — ROz & (#)
(@) ABRitE(E)

() @\AHEES®
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NAEET ABRE
SR EE
ETEBREHRA
HEELREESE
FOBEERAIAE
B ABENH 6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Impact

of adoption (Continued)

(a)

Classification and measurement
(Continued)

(i)

Equity investments previously
classified as AFS

The Group elected to present in
other comprehensive income
changes in the fair value of
listed equity investments
previously classified as
available-for-sale financial
assets, because these
investments are held as long
term strategic investments that
are not expected to be sold in
the short to medium term. As a
result, these investments were
reclassified from available-for-
sale financial assets to financial
assets at FVOCI (HK$1,890,000
at Tst April, 2018). Related fair
value gains of HK$1,154,000
were reclassified from the
investment revaluation reserve
to FVOCI revaluation reserve on

1st April, 2018.

Other than that, there were no
other changes to the

classification and measurement

of financial instruments.

e M BRRME

2

EESHBREEHE)

22 BEHBEE5H(H)

(i)

BB B HEERFIREMT
B — ROz & (#)
(@) ABRitE(E)

(i) BEDEAITHE
EeREENER
®&
AEBEERHEM
FHREZZ25 BT
NERAEHEES
MEEMNLELMER
BENAAREBEE
B ARBLHERE
AEPEBEEY
EHETERE S
P EIHE Bt
It &% & B A g
EeMEEEND
HERAAEAES
AEME2ERZD
tMEERZ-ZT
—N\EMA—HBAB
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B AABEERR
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82 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & BY 7§ SR 3k Mf &%

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBREHSEGE

(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 EBRBEEE(E)
(i) HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Impact (i) EBUBHEEREIF @I
of adoption (Continued) A — R zZ& (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets b)  EEEERE
The Group mainly has two types of AEBEFZHEMERE
financial assets that are subject to 7B B 7% ¥R & 2E B 95 A T
HKFRS 9’s new expected credit loss HHEEBRBREXMAR
model: BWeREE:
o Trade receivables, and . BESRKER &
. Other financial assets carried at . LA B8 B AR R B B
amortised cost. Hth&RMEE -

The Group was required to revise its AEBHEARZTEEERE
impairment methodology under HKFRS BB B MEERIESRE
9 for each of these classes of assets. AIEME A B H b fE
While other receivables, short-term WERR - REBRTERE
bank deposits and cash equivalents ReESENARBETEEY
are also subject to the impairment & 22 R 95 &9 R B #
requirement of HKFRS 9, the identified FEEAMBESEYT
impairment were immaterial. TR o
Trade receivables 2 Z MR
The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified AEBEREEMBRE
approach to measure expected credit ERIFEOR B EFER
losses (“ECL”) which uses a lifetime HEEBER(RYUEER
expected loss allowance for all trade B BULHEMAEZESE
receivables. The Group estimates ECL WER KA 2 BTE A e 18
based on shared credit risk BH - -AEERBEBEE
characteristics and ageing profile. EIEY SN & A

HEHREERR-

The Group has assessed the ECL AEBFHEREEER
model applied to the trade receivables RAEAR T N\FM
as at 1st April, 2018 and the change A—B8OEZREENR
in impairment methodologies has no REBEYRESTEHAEHE
significant impact of the Group’s e W BMRL|EK
consolidated financial statements and FE RELBYEERR
the opening loss allowance is not B EED -

restated in this respect.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — Impact

of adoption (Continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised
cost
For other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the expected credit
loss is based on the 12-month
expected credit loss, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial investment since
initial recognition in which case the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal lifetime expected credit
losses. The Group concluded there is

no material impact on 1st April, 2018.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” — Impact of adoption

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers from 1st
April, 2018 which resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in this consolidated
financial statements. In accordance with the
transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group
has adopted the cumulative effect method

with comparative figures have not been

restated.

e M BRRME
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22 EBIFBRE2H(E)
() EBEUBHEEEREINEHT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 15 did not result in
any significant impact on the Group’s
financial position and results of operations
based on the current business model, except
that the Group has changed the presentation
of certain amounts in the consolidated
statement of financial position to reflect the
terminology of HKFRS 15 with effect from
1st April, 2018:

. Contract liabilities primarily relate to
the advance consideration received
from customers for sales of goods
were previously presented as accruals
and other payables (HK$ 1,582,000 as
at 1st April, 2018).

Revenue of HK$1,582,000 included in the
contract liabilities balance on 1st April, 2018

are recognised in the consolidated income

statement of the year ended 31st March,
2019.

e M BRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

Disclosure of the impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the year ended 31st
March, 2019 as if no adoption of HKFRS 15
on st April, 2018
The impact on the Group’s financial
statements for the year ended 31st March,
2019 as if no adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1st
April, 2018 is as follows:

Consolidated income statement and statement
of comprehensive income for the year ended
31st March, 2019

There is no impact on the consolidated
and statement of

income statement

comprehensive income.

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31st March, 2019.

Accruals and other payable would increase
by HK$1,765,000 and contract liabilities of
HK$1,765,000 would be derecognised.

2.3 Consolidation
2.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

e M BRRME

2 EESTERERMEGE

22 BEHBEE5H(H)

2.3

(ii)

Ra
2.3.1

EBMBEHEERE15H  [HE
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Az E (F)
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IR EEYFIHEERES
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86 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & BY 7§ SR 3k Mf &%

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBREHSEGE
(Continued)

used to account for business combinations
by the Group (see Note 2.3.2).

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes

in equity and consolidated statement of

financial position respectively.

2.3 Consolidation (Continued) 23 #HRAE(E)
2.3.1 Subsidiaries (Continued) 2.3.1 B2 A (&)
The acquisition method of accounting is REBRBEBEREBAMA
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE

(Continued)
2.3 Consolidation (Continued) 23 #E (@&
2.3.2 Business Combination 232 ¥EHBEO
The acquisition method of accounting is KABBERMEBEEBEMHA
used to account for all business R-MAmABERATANHM
combinations, regardless of whether equity BERGWEMG - WENELQ
instruments or other assets are acquired. The AIFTEEARER NS EERK

consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred . FEBEEENRABE

. liabilities incurred to the former . PR B R R AR
owners of the acquired business EENAE

. equity interests issued by the Group . ANEE B B AT R AN HE 2

. fair value of any asset or liability . IARBLRYEENEM
resulting from a contingent BEESEBENAREE"
consideration arrangement, and K

. fair value of any pre-existing equity . I B X B B A BE A AR
interest in the subsidiary. REROWAAEE-

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities FEEBABIER U BT

and contingent liabilities assumed in a PEEARAAENEBERIA

business combination are, with limited BE - BRAERZAIIMNER TR

exceptions, measured initially at their fair WEE BREAREBEED T

values at the acquisition date. 2o
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBREHSEGE
(Continued)

2.3 Consolidation (Continued)
2.3.2 Business Combination (Continued)

23 #HRAE(E)
2.3.2 ¥XKEOG(E)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The excess of the
. consideration transferred,

. amount of any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement
as a bargain purchase. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such remeasurement are

recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EENBERBE &)
(Continued)

2.3 Consolidation (Continued)
2.3.3 Change in ownership interests

2.3 #&HRE(#)
233 WEBARAG#EZEE

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to
non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised
in a separate reserve within equity

attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to the consolidated income

statement or transferred to another category

of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.3

2.4

Consolidation (Continued)

2.3.4 Separate financial statements
In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation

@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are generally recognised in the consolidated

income statement.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated income

statement within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary

financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive

income, are included in other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates

prevailing on the transaction dates, in

which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and

(i) all

differences are recognised in other

resulting currency translation

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated

exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation), or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to consolidated income

statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in consolidated income

statement.

Land use rights
The up-front prepayments made for land use rights

are accounted for as prepaid operating lease

payments. They are expensed in the consolidated

income statement on a straight-line basis over the

periods of the lease; when there is impairment, the

impairment is expensed

immediately in the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and
offices. Property, plant and equipment, including
leasehold land classified as finance leases but
excluding construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance leases
commence amortisation from the time when the
land interest becomes available for its intended
use. Amortisation on leasehold land classified as
finance lease and depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
—  Leasehold land classified ~ Over the lease
as finance lease term

25 to 50 years
5 to 10 years

—  Buildings
—  Plant and machinery
—  Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

—  Motor vehicles 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its

recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 2.8).

e M BRRME

2

BER

2.7

I BEME (&)

ME- - BERERE

ITHERBTFIERERERETE D
X mERRBEEIAAREEE
MEELER ETEEERTE)
¥ LA S AR AR R FHIT B DI Bk o [ SR AR
AEEEREZAEMEREE 2 -

HEKARBEEZAR B RO ARIL
EM@EAAERARNER MZEB K
RABER SRt B TOIAEENERT
ESERRBLEE (WER) BEEHR
Mo Z BREERH AR A E Mt #
ERREEELOPBEHEANEE WK
ERHH

DEABMEMEZAELIbERE T
AHAEERERAERHREE - 28
ARMEHECHREL I BEREME
EZEXRGET I ERAFHNIZERE
DEBEKNAERGEE BBAZAEA
FHIT ¢

— 7NERBEMES REOHRE

fE L
— BF 25F504F
— R 5Z104F
— EKARZEE 5Z 104
— AE 54

BEZFBEAERERFHRS @R
EHERABRF WELEERAE-FE
EZ2EEERREME T WEEE - A
& 2 R A B R OR = R U el B E (Bt
52.8) ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation
work has not been completed. It is carried at cost
which

expenditures and other direct costs less any

includes construction and installation
impairment losses. On completion, construction in
progress is transferred to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until it is

completed and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “other gains/(losses) —

net” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there

a

=

e separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-
generating units”). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed

for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

Financial assets

(i)

Classification
From 1st April, 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement

categories:

J those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through OCI or
through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised

cost.

The classification depends on the Group's
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments

when and only when its business model for

managing those assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

Financial assets

(i)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction

costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are

expensed in profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBREHSEGE

(Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued) 29 SREEGHE
(i) Measurement (Continued) (iii) &8 ()

Debt instruments EHTA
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments BB LARENRETSBORRK
depends on the Group’s business model for AEBEEBZEENEBERXMU
managing the asset and the cash flow MZEENARBESRERH-
characteristics of the assets. There are two FEEBEBIAREDRAUT
categories into which the Group classifies its Mg T 28R

debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Asset that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interests are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other
gains/(losses) — net”, together with

foreign exchange gains and losses.

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it

arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OClI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the
Dividends

investments continue to be recognised in

investment. from which
profit or loss as other income when the
Group's
established.

right to receive payments is

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses)
in the statement of profit or loss as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
FVOCI

separately from other changes in fair value.

measured at are not reported

Impairment

From Tst April, 2018, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis the ECL associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and fair value through other
comprehensive income. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be

recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018

(a)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets
in the following categories: loans and
receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the

investments were acquired.

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. If
collection of the amounts is expected
in one year or less they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables
comprise “trade and bill receivables”,
“cash and cash equivalents”, “bank
deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits” and “long-term
bank deposit” in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Notes

2.12 and 2.13).

Investments are designated as
available-for-sale financial assets if
they do not have fixed maturities and
fixed or determinable payments, and
management intends to hold them for
the medium to long-term. Financial
assets that are not classified into any
of the other categories (at financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments) are also included

in the available-for-sale category.

The financial assets are presented as
non-current assets unless they mature,
or management intends to dispose of

them within 12 months of the end of

the reporting period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE

(Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued) 29 SREEGHE
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st v) BE-E-NNFZA=+-—HH
March, 2018 (Continued) AR E B % ()
(b)  Recognition and derecognition (b) BRI FER

Regular way purchases and sales of FHBEALHENSRE
financial assets are recognised on the EEXZHER R5H
trade-date, the date on which the EBAEEARFEBAXEE
Group commits to purchase or sell the ZEEZH HRIWIR
asset. Financial assets are initially AABEEBESZLERN
recognised at fair value plus METMEE HERED
transaction costs for all financial assets FARBEMRZHEA
not carried at fair value through profit R -BRKRERRRD
or loss. Financial assets are MEBOENKD DB
derecognised when the rights to BEEE MAKECDKE
receive cash flows from the financial BRENPTARRMND®RE
assets have expired or have been REZEE eREENRK
transferred and the Group has IR e B W R IE
transferred substantially all risks and HeMBERMNE KRS
rewards of ownership. Loans and 8 P A B B -

receivables are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

When securities classified as available- EoHAUHEE &S
for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair EHR TEZSEROHZR
value adjustments recognised in equity HAABEAE ALK
are included in the consolidated ERERNIRAEESF 2
income statement as “gains and losses wmREEIA -

from investment securities”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)

(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group
measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are
expensed in the consolidated income

statement.

Loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investments are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried
at fair value. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value are

recognised as follows:

. for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss — in the
consolidated income statement

within other income or other

expenses;
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)

29 SRWEE(E)
v BE-E-NE=ZF=+—HF
AN S B % ()

Measurement (Continued)

o for available-for-sale financial
assets that are monetary
securities denominated in a
foreign currency — translation
differences related to changes in
the amortised cost of the
security are recognised in the
consolidated income statement
and other changes in the
carrying amount are recognised

in other comprehensive income;

o for other monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as
available for sales — in other

comprehensive income.

Dividends on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss as part of
revenue from continuing operations
when the Group’s right to receive

payments is established.

Interest income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss is
included in the net gains/(losses).
Interest on available-for-sale securities,
held-to-maturity investments and loans
and receivables calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated income statement

as part of revenue from continuing

operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end
of each reporting period
whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the
asset (a “loss event”) and that
loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset
or group of financial assets that

can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may
include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal
payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation,
and where observable data
indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that

correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)
. Assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

For loans and receivable
category, the amount of the loss
is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate
for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under
the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the
basis of an instrument’s fair

value using an observable

market price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)
. Assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the
amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an
event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such
as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is

recognised in the consolidated

income statement.

e M BRRME

2 EESTERERMEGE

29 LREE(E)
v) BE-FE-NE=ZA=1+—HA
A & B % ()
(d) EHEEREE)

. VA 55 12 BX AN 1) BR
A E (&)
MERERBE RE
EEOEERL W
1L R D AT 5 R B
EEREAERR
FEENFEHWDID
B ANERFR
BRSE) B ZA
ERRMNEEESR
AEGEKRREKE
[B] o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)
(d) Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Assets classified as available-for-
sale

The Group assesses at the end
of each reporting period
whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is

impaired.

For debt securities, if any such
evidence exists the cumulative
loss ~ — measured as the
difference between the
acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit
or loss — is reclassified from
equity and recognised in profit
or loss. If, in a subsequent
period, the fair value of a debt
investment classified as
available-for-sale increases and
the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed

through the consolidated

income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)
(d) Impairment of financial assets

(Continued)

o Assets classified as available-for-
sale (Continued)
For equity investments, a
significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security
below its cost is also evidence
that the assets are impaired. If
any such evidence exists, the
cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit
or loss — is reclassified from
equity and recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in
the consolidated income
statement on equity instruments
are not reversed through the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10

2.12

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the Company or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. They are generally due
for settlement within 1 year and therefore are all

classified as current.

Trade receivable are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional

unless they contain significant financing
components, when they recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate. See Note 2.9
for further information about the Group’s

accounting for trade receivables and for a

description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13

2.14

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

@) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of statement
of financial position in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to

interpretation. It establishes provisions where

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if it arises from initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the date of statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it

is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can
be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net

basis.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.17 Ordinary share capital
Share are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits

@)

b

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the date of

statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contribution for
post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities,
insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds. The Group pays contributions on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The contributions are recognised as
employment benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or

a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of option
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or

where there is a past practice that has

created a constructive obligation.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBREHSEGE
(Continued)
2.19 Provisions

2.19 #E

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in

the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Revenue and income recognition

@)

b

(©)

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the
products has been transferred to customers,
being when the products are delivered in
accordance to the delivery/shipping terms, or
when the risk of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customers, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria

for goods delivery have been satisfied.

Customers obtain control when the goods
are delivered to agreed destination. Revenue

is recognised at that point in time.

A receivable is recognised when the goods
are delivered as this is the point in time that
the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before

the payment is due.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at
amortised cost calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to
the net carrying amount of the financial

assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBREHSEGE
(Continued)
2.21 Leases 221 HE

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases in which a significant portion of
the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor), including
upfront payment made for land use rights, are
charged to the consolidated income statement on a

straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in other long-term payable. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to the
consolidated income statement over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over

the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the

lease term.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE
(Continued)
2.22 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

222 RAREERBARERE

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability
is not recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when an

inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the

the Company’s

Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends

Company’s shareholders.

are approved by the

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred

and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them
with intended to

the costs that they are

compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred revenue and are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the

expected lives of the related assets.

Contract liability

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount
of consideration that is due) from the customer. If
a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as

revenue when the Group performs under the

contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by
senior management of the Group under policies
approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

@)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate
in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), United States dollars
(“US$”) or Malaysian ringgit (“RM”).
The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through sales
and purchases transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiary. The Group considers its
foreign currency exposure mainly
arises from the exposure of RMB and
SGD against Hong Kong dollars and/or
US$. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged
to US$, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated
in US$ which are entered by group
companies with a functional currency

of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HRERERE
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 HEEEEGE
(@)  Market risk (Continued) (@) WHEEEE)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) S IE J7 % (4E)
The Group manages its exposures to RNEE BB EEIIERA
foreign currency transactions by R AR E B EH AN R
monitoring the level of foreign SHARZ AR KNEME
currency receipts and payments. The WEAR BT B 2 O EE L B F
Group ensures that the net exposure BHRFEEINHER -
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an AEBBTKEEBHA R
acceptable level from time to time. BEFPOES MR HE
The Group also regularly reviews the BzE® U&EEBII
portfolio of local and international B o g P = A

customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2019, approximately RZZE2-AF=A=+—
96% (2018: 99%) of the Group’s H &% B £9%%2 & E
borrowings were denominated in Hong (ZZ—NF:99%) 8 A
Kong dollars and RMB while the BLTEAREANE mH
remaining were mainly denominated B UET (DT -\ F:
in US$ (2018: US$). The Group’s E)FE-KAEBEEER
borrowings are mainly in Hong Kong BUBETHAREEZ
dollars or RMB for operation in the BEFEATRERNEE
PRC. At present, the management does M- BAl BEEHEBF
not expect that there will be any AW EEAEEEESH
significant foreign exchange risk ZEMERIMERR AKX
associated with the Group’s SETECHAIMN ST
borrowings and the Group did not use AfhERBAKEHES
any financial instruments to hedge its Z SN R o

foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group's borrowings during the year.




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2019, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2018:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant, pre-
tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$400,000 lower/
higher (2018: pre-tax
HK$1,029,000 higher/lower), mainly

as a result of foreign exchange gains/

loss

losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

At 31st March, 2019, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2018:
Us$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax loss

5%) against other
for the year would have been
approximately HK$2,022,000 higher/
(2018: pre-tax
HK$3,361,000 higher/lower), mainly

as a result of foreign exchange losses/

lower loss

gains on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated

in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2019, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2018:
US$ with all
variables held constant, pre-tax loss

5%) against other
for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,078,000 higher/
(2018: pre-tax
HK$1,446,000 higher/lower), mainly

as a result of foreign exchange losses/

lower loss

gains on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
denominated in

payables non-

functional currency of the relevant

group companies.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERABEEGE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIBEREZE(E
(@)  Market risk (Continued) (@) WHEEREE)
(ii)  Cash flow fair value and interest rate (i) B FTEILEMERFE
risk V3
As the Group has no significant AAEEKRES RBTRHF
interest-bearing assets except for the FON - WEBEBRGFEEE -
cash and bank balances, the Group’s WMAEBEZ KA REER
income and operating cash flows are ERERB ETZWISH
substantially independent of changes EEEEE -

in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly AEBZHEEREER
arises from borrowings. The Group is BEREE-FERATEBER
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk EAEEAZR T REN
in relation to variable-rate bank ZRp e AEEZHETR
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow ENXERBAEEEE
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated Sl TEEFREER
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong ERBNERZ B -

Interbank Offered Rate arising from

the Group’s borrowings.

At 31st March, 2019, if interest rates RZEBE—-—NF=RA=+—
on borrowings had been 10 basis B -fMEEREEHA T
points higher/lower with all other FE1018 £ B - M H fth 7] &
variables held constant, post-tax loss AE#HETE AFER
for the year would have been BEEBEKE N R H
HK$176,000 higher/lower (2018: post- 176,000 T (ZZF — )\ F :
tax loss HK$192,000 higher/lower), BRI BEBEEN R H
mainly as a result of higher/lower 192,000/ 7T) © £ ZAHNF
interest expense on floating rate BEEZNERXZ Z8N

borrowings. e ¥
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
management on a group basis. Most
customers are sizable and renowned.
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

At 31st March, 2019, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 29% (2018:
18%) of the total trade receivable were due
from the Group’s five largest customers and
11% (2018: 12%) of the total
receivable were due from the Group’s largest

trade

customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which

allowance for all trade receivables.

uses a lifetime expected loss

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

The Group categorises its accounts

receivable, except those individually

assessed, based on the nature and
geographical areas of the business, shared
credit risk characteristics and aging profile
collectively. The expected credit loss rates
are determined based on past repayment
history and historical credit losses
experience. The expected credit loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers

to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31st
March, 2019 was determined as follows for

trade receivables:

31st March, 2019
—E-hE=ZA=+—H

Expected loss rate EHEBEX
Gross carrying amount BEREE

— trade receivables — B HRKBER
Loss allowance EBERE

Movement in loss allowance for trade

receivable are shown in Note 19.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a

repayment plan with Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables is
presented as net impairment losses within
operating (loss)/profit. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are

credited against the same line item.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore, Malaysia and the

associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.

e M BRRME

3

o % B kR B ()
3.1 BIBEEEE ()
®) EEEEE)
2B EENE (E)

BEESRERRERESEEA AN
Yol - BT A 8 A IR TR IR
BMEEEFREEBAERE
B 3 48 2 KR ] B ARG -

25 RBEFREBERNEE (B
B) /@R AREBEFEE
5l B 1% 58 0 LA BT B A 8 6 BREE
RE—EBHREA-

2N 5% B 1 7 TSR DA BR ) 8 A 2R
BEEFEmEBEZERERAR K
SEZBRTEFREOFEATE
mye - BHRAED KR EAE MG
BEZRITICHBEE - R
ERBSEMBITIRERBBELT X
ZEEERBAK-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Previous accounting policy for provision for
trade receivables

Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to
settle their outstanding balances. Any
customers with delinquency in payments and
indication of impairment will be fully
provided.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents and long-term
bank deposit (Note 20) and undrawn
borrowing facilities (Note 29) on the basis of

expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of statement of financial
position date to contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within twelve months equal

their carrying balances, as the impact of

discounting is not significant.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 BBERBER(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BIBEBREZE(E
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) () ZHELEEE)
Specifically, for the bank borrowings which A HRESRTAKEH
contain a repayment on demand clause ERTENEZRLERGER 2R
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole TRE THNDMEINERASE
discretion, the analysis shows the cash WEREFHREHREOR SR
outflow based on the earliest period in e BI AR AT (R S R R
which the Group can be required to pay, BB 5 2] B R e

that is if the lenders were to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the loans with

immediate effect.

Between Between

On  Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
demand 1 year years years
NF—F NF=E

BEXR LIR-—F —fF "E

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000
TET TAET TAET THET

Group £8
At 31st March, 2019 R-ZB-N%F

=A=+-—H
Borrowings A& 214,091 — — —
Trade and bill payables B ZERNERRRE — 128,894 — —
Other payables H R 5 3R — 74,198 — —
Interest payable J& 1~ A1 8 10,783 — — —

224,874 203,092 — —

At 31st March, 2018 R-B-N\F

ZHA=+—8H
Borrowings mE 61,673 78,001 53,107 57,262
Trade and bill payables BHRMNERRER — 184,612 — —
Other payables H R < 3R — 69,138 — —
Interest payable J& 1~ A1 8 2,059 5,775 3,287 1,888

63,732 337,526 56,394 59,150




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. To manage its price
risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its

investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.

At 31st March, 2019, if the prices of the
equity securities invested by the Group had
been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$200,000
(2018: HK$189,000) lower/higher.

The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
discretion of the issuer of the insurance
policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price

risk arising from these policies is

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

e M BRRME

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERABEEGE)
3.2 Capital risk management 32 BEXEmER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are REEEREAZBRRRELNEEF
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a BREzED URBRRRBRHEERER
going concern in order to provide returns for HitvHh HERHEAN R L EFZEEARR
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders BIABIRE AR -
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, REFIHBERER AEELSH
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends BRTRREZKRECHE BERFER
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, RBOTHMRIEEEEARDESR -
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net REBAFEEHERELERAE
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt A ZHEELEEFER AR AR
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as H O ARFHENERE(BERNEAY
total borrowings (including current and non-current BRAXRTHERENRDRIERDRE)
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement RRSLBRECEE - RAREAERR
of financial position) less cash and cash REMBRRET IR -
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity”,
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
The Group's strategy was to maintain a net gearing FEBZEBREFFEAELE IR
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net cash 75% AEBHE_T-—HLFRZ=FT
position as at 31st March, 2019 and 2018. The net —N\F=ZA=+—BREFRSMKI - RN
gearing ratios at 31st March, 2019 and 2018 were TE-NAEFER-TE-N\F=ZA=+—H
as follows: ZEBELENAT
2019 2018
ZE-hAE —ZEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Borrowings (Note 21) m&E (FfaE21) 214,091 250,043
Bill payables (Note 22) e R4 (Mt 3E22) 1,087 1,184
Total borrowings R & 4R % 215,178 251,227
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) & : #1745 1F IR & (Mi#£20) (249,982) (314,233)
Net Cash e (34,804) (63,006)
Total capital PR 48 5 468,611 532,808
Net gearing ratio FRELE N/A N/A
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets including cash and cash equivalents, bank
deposit, trade and bills receivables and deposits
and financial liabilities including trade and bill
payables, other payables and short-term bank
borrowings, approximate their fair values due to

their short-term maturities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2019 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets that
are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2019.

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value % QAR EBEAFAE
through profit or loss HOERMEE

Financial assets at fair value QAR EBEFAH

thEmRENS

A& E

through other

comprehensive income

e M BRRME

3 HMERREEE

3.3

Level 1
£
HK$’000
FERT

2,005

DABEEZMEE

FEEZeREE BREASRELE
B ROER BIRREREEZERER
BEURERABEEREIBRNERL
R HEtmENRRERRITERE &
REBAEEE FILERAESEAR
BEMEE -

TEROIMAEER T - NLF=A
ST -HEARFAEAABEZEHER
MArAEABBENER HERAAE
BIRZEMIAZAABE - EHH
ABUE TR T XA D BEREA LR B
BERBAN=(ERR

— REEEHLEEAEEERTS LD

HECREHAR)(E—R) -

— BE-RFEEOBREN BE

FRENAERAVER) HHEE
(BDYE B DASMS H) B P S &€
AEE=R) -

— YHEBREAEETSEIEMET

MEEXBBENEZR AR
EOHEAR)(E=R) -

TEREINAEER-_Z-AF=H
=t RUAARBEAENEE -

Level 2 Level 3 Total
-t ] E=H st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
— 13,137 13,137

— — 2,005
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERABEEGE)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 DAEBEEzZMHE (HE)
TEREINAEEBR_Z-NEFE=A
=E+t—HBURAARBEFENEE-

The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2018.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
i E_H BE= BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Assets gE
Available-for-sale financial AJ#tHE S @MEE
assets 1,890 — 12,800 14,690

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3

during the year.

(a) Financial instruments in level 1
The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of consolidated statement
of financial position. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily listed equity investments classified

as financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

FRNE-—R F_RRERALEHR-

@)

SAE-K£MT A
EERTSEENERTANA
AEBEREBGAFBMRAERBH
BT 5 MBFIAR - B ME A AR
MERARBSZZH XZ8 -
BR-ERAL EERBER
EERBEERS TAZFHER
RERAARSRAETHERMN
BEROMISERHE  ZHSHER
RER-AKERANTREE
MM HRESSRET ME- It
STABRGEF - -UHEEE
EFE-RNIATZBESER
BARBEFAEMEZEKED
EREEMNLEHRERE -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b)  Financial instruments in level 2
The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2.

(c)  Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3 (Note 17).

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
No financial asset and financial liability is subject

to offsetting under an enforceable master netting

arrangement or similar arrangement as at 3Tst
March, 2019 and 31st March, 2018.

e M BRRME

3

B 7% B b B B (4E)
33 AAREEZMHEF(E)

b)) IWAF-HZWE@ITA
RBEEBRMBEENSRIA
(PIanBITETE)MAREE
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2 ) A AT R 45 A9 7] B 5 T 45 UK
(mE) TEELIRBEENE
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ARBEMTENMEERNE AR
AERsE AlZes T A
[t
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements 4  F K& &4 5+ & ¥ &

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and A RABERFETG TRBELRR
are based on historical experience and other factors, HEAX BEREEABATHERGEZ
including expectations of future events that are believed RREF M 2 TRRI T AEH

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning FEBFRRRELGEARBR - EENGF
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by B (REBEER)ELEFBERERER -
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The TXHABRAKSER T - HRFEEE
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of HEERmMEAFEDERAENME RRE -

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets @ *EemEERE

The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets HWHREGHKBREDEREEREE
when events or changes in circumstances indicate A BE S OR Y[ - K B R TR E R
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable A RBRBEAEGIER SEETR
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting ER: - EEENREEEREARE
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when BERHERARERBEZOSE &
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the BRREBE RETEREER &
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and BETEHEBEERZEERNERSF
value in use. In determining the value in use, g EEMSHNASREKRES AN
management assesses the present value of the BE -

estimated future cash flows expected to arise from

the continuing use of the asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an

related asset values may not be
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use which is the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the
Group’s financial position and results of operations.

As at 31st March, 2019,
non-financial assets, including property, plant and

the Group has certain

equipment and land use rights in the eastern China
segment, southern China segment and Malaysia,
amounting to approximately HK$ 85.2 million,
HK$220.9 million and HK$49.5 million
respectively. The recovery of the economic
performance of the assets in eastern China were
slower than expected, and while for southern
China and Malaysia, the economic performance of
the assets were worse than expected due to the
deterioration in the operating efficiency and gross
margin resulting in a losses from operation.
Management considered the above as impairment
indicators for these three cash generating units and
has performed impairment assessments on these
assets. Management has also performed sensitivity
analysis over the key assumptions of the cash flow
forecasts, including future revenue growth rate and
discount rate, in order to assess the potential
impact of a range of possible outcomes. Details is

disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are
based on current market conditions and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at

the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of trade receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each

reporting period. Details of the key assumptions

and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

e M BRRME
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in

which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is likely that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax expenses in the period in which such

estimate is changed.

Fair value of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in
an active market are determined by the quoted
market prices. For the fair values of financial assets
not traded in an active market, the Group would
use the quoted price provided by counterparty to
estimate the fair values. For the fair values of
financial assets not based on observable market
data, the Group would use other valuation
approaches to measure the fair values. The
methodologies, models and assumptions used in
valuing these financial assets require judgement by

management which are mainly based on market

conditions existing at each reporting date.

e M BRRME
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5  Revenue and segment information

(@)

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category

Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable from customers during the year. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the

year is as follows:

e M BRRME

5 WBWARZBESR
@@ WAZRER W
BARKFNE RIS E S FOBF
B FRARERARERNS AT

2019 2018
—E-hAFE Z—T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TEL
Sales of packaging materials, labels and paper $HEBEME - FH X
products, including environmental friendly MEHEG BERRA
paper products BEM 1,400,167 1,505,126
Others Hfth 30,831 27,968
1,430,998 1,533,094
Segment information by DWEHR

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”)
of the Group has been identified as the Chairman/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has reported
the results of the operating segments based on

these reports.

The CODM of the Company considers the business
from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by
the location of major factory plants including
Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,
and assesses performance based on revenue,

operating (loss)/profit, (loss)/profit for the year,

capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

ARARERE /BT REERAEEALTE
BERARE(ZTBEEREE]D - KE
DEAREZEERRERHBANE R
—HHEARR - ARF EEBFLERE
EBRRAEE 2 AMHE  UFFHERR
EORER - ERECREZEWRSE
WEE DAL -

ARBEEREARERREBRLR M
B30 ARIEBENMERREER
FBER ZERRRE: MMREKRA
reE(BE /88 FARAEBHE &
FBRRAX AERAGBHGEEDE
HKR 3R
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b)

The segment results for the year ended 31st March,

2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Year ended 31st March, 2019

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers at a point
in time

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income

Finance costs
Income tax (expense)/credit

Loss for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure

Provision for impairment of property, plant
and equipment

Year ended 31st March, 2018

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Depreciation and amortisation
Capital expenditure

—E-h#E
ZA=+—-BLEE
WA

2 56 A A

REEESE RGN PES
A

EER S (B1R)

A A
A E RN
Fris B (M) /%

FAEE

HMaEH :
HIEME - BERRE
TERMEH

AR

mE - BEERRERE
B

—E-N\F
ZA=t—BLEE
b2)

KA EBEFBA

i (Fe) 8 A

A A
3%
AR

FR(EE),E

Hib &
HIBME - BERERE
78 Kt o

AR

HEzE_Z—hWFER-_Z—N\F=A
T+ —HUEFEZHEEENAT ¢

Southern Eastern South

China China  East Asia Group
3 #R REE &5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FHET FET
1,154,737 261,657 141,838 1,558,232
(17,769)  (109,465) — (127,234)
1,136,968 152,192 141,838 1,430,998
21,509 (22,204)  (13,811)  (14,506)
481 210 30 721
(9,047) (1,516) — (10,563)
(15,770) (62) 2,255 (13,577)
(2,827) (23,572) (11,526) (37,925)
21,186 32,121 6,263 59,570
31,708 13,671 8,539 53,918
20,360 29,145 5,789 55,294
— 10,000 — 10,000
1,176,044 352,041 157,714 1,685,799
(9,910) (142,795) —  (152,705)
1,166,134 209,246 157,714 1,533,094
(27,127) (23,054) 7,902 (42,279)
307 120 16 443
(6,442) (1,299) (72) (7,813)
(1,778) — (3,009) (4,787)
(35,040) (24,233) 4,837 (54,436)
34,822 16,166 1,152 52,140
33,948 12,021 8,013 53,982
32,825 16,966 1,949 51,740
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WAK S &R ()

(b) Segment information (Continued) by ZEBERE)
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by RZE-—NFRZE-NF=ZA=+—
segment as at 31st March, 2019 and 2018 is as HEFEAEBEZDAEERBEDN
follows: W
Southern Eastern  South East
China China Asia Group
#E ER REE £8

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT THAT TAT TAT

As at 31st March, 2019 R-ZB-h&F

=A=+-—H
Segment assets DEEE 663,927 181,906 170,457 1,016,290
Segment liabilities DE A E 415,508 110,494 21,677 547,679
As at 31st March, 2018 R-ZE-NF

ZHA=+—8
Segment assets D EE E 768,226 211,051 177,828 1,157,105
Segment liabilities DE A E 464,686 134,424 25,187 624,297

(c) Information about major customers 0 EBRXEEFER

Revenues of approximately HK$367,673,000 (2018: #9367,673,000/% (= & — )\ F:
HK$372,349,000) are derived from two external 372,349,0007% 7T) A Wg AR B ™ & Sh 5k
customers (2018: two external customers). These BER(ZE—NF: —f@NREFL) It
revenues are attributable to the Southern China FWABRER DI -

segment.
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WAK 2 &R ()
(d) Analysis of revenue by destination of (d BEEFENZBADH
customer
Revenue from external customers by country, based SIREFEBES D ZIRA  BREZF
on the destination of the customer: Z B
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Hong Kong and the PRC BB Rk 403,954 403,897
The United States of America E3=1 321,271 464,507
South East Asia REE: 165,138 178,863
Europe BOM 444,637 412,885
Others Hfth 95,998 72,942
1,430,998 1,533,094
(e) Analysis of non-current assets (e FRBEEDN
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments EHMESSERDEE  BHKRERT
and deferred income tax assets by country: ARBEMSHREE
2019 2018
—E-REFE ~—Z-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT TET
The PRC A 292,164 314,041
Hong Kong BE 15,791 19,705
Malaysia BoRA R 49,662 51,276
Singapore EimIRd 2,140 2,625
359,757 387,647
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Other gains/(losses) — net

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Net exchange gains/(losses)

Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment

Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Others

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used
Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment benefit expense (including directors’
emoluments) (Note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises charged by

— third parties
— related parties (Note 30)
(Write back of provision)/provision for inventory
obsolescence (Note 18)
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 14)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 15)
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs, and

general and administrative expenses

e M BRRME

6 Hfttlzm (BB — FE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
M- BEREEZ
BB B (10,000) —
EH M (EEB)FE 7,606 (10,547)
HEME BEREZEZ
E1E (1,868) (2,854)
RANBEFABEN
CRMEEZAAEE
W 25 % 58 337 —
HAh 6,435 9,945
2,510 (3,456)
7 RMEBEESZEX
2019 2018
—EBE-hE Z—ZT—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
JRM R R OE R E A 662,078 725,688
MITER 75,696 87,865
HIERE 17,772 18,263
EHBA 41,994 51,279
BTRMAX
(BEESFEWE)(HF9) 458,674 493,859
HAMEKEREZ
e HF
— =% 8,131 8,335
— @& AL (5E30) 82 79
BRE 177 SR B (B a5
SR (fE18) (3,731) 991
b 5 R REEE S (P EE14) 763 725
ME - BERRBZINE
(PfF 5%£15) 53,155 53,257
% SRM B &
— ZHRG 3,059 2,966
— FRERTE 382 433
Hfh kX 124,174 125,981
HERA - HERDHEER
R—mMEkTHHAZBE 1,442,229 1,569,721




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the

employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

e M BRRME

8  Finance costs — net 8 ®EAEX — FH
2019 2018
—E-hAE —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Finance costs BMERAE
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITRLE A B X H 10,563 7,813
Finance income mE WA
Interest income on bank deposits RITEFERF B U A (721) (443)
9,842 7,370
9  Employment benefit expense (including 9 EBEIRAMXX(BEESEHD)
directors’ emoluments)
2019 2018
—E-hE Z—E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERER 371,830 416,212
Discretionary bonus BHIRE ZEL 14,259 7,488
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIKKAR — REHREE 51,681 50,818
Provision for long service payments and annual leave &EIR & KFR2EE 1,421 1,861
Other welfare and benefits H b8 A R F 2= 19,483 17,480
458,674 493,859

FEBERBEEEIZ2MABHIERESE
(laiE2 T8 - %8 /R EHRIL BB L
EREARE -REBESFE  FESQF (B
rEEESARFLSEREABALR(ERS
B RTE S E BRD 2 ER) Z5% © T E £
LEBH®RE AR Z LR RB1,5008 7T BB L
PRV % B BRI -
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Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 13% to 16% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 7.5% to 17% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD6,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,700)
during the year ended 31st March, 2019.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5.5% to 11% of their wages, while the
group company contributes approximately 4% to 13% of

the wages of its employees. The employer’s and

employees’ contributions are not subject to a cap.

e M BRRME

ETRERAMX(BREESHS)(H)

REPEER AEERTEAEEBZ AT
RERBRI—ERTHALABEREB N
RAREHE BT HFENRERTF S 2
8% MEBMARZHRABOREEIERN
FE2ZH13%E16% - BRFEEHRTIN FERQ
ARERNRRESNRIERERBMNLTE
EREE - % E h B R E B R K & 7 8K
EHRAEENMAERKEEE-

WEFMBER AEERFTMEEEBZ
DRAFRFE—EARATNEFRAES
BETERAKSFE - R%ZTE BERRES
HeZH5%E20%  MEBQF 2 HARER
BEHESHN75%E17%  BEREBAHRK
ZERR-_F—HhhF=ZA=+—HB%FEA6,000
N T (A8 % R 434,700 7T) ©

BEERATER AEBENEREEAE
BzoRalBH-RE—EEABRARHR
AESHETRKSTE - R:t8  BEH
RBAF S ZH55%E11%  MEB QAR Z
HAREREEHF S ZH4%E13% - BEERIE
B 7 R R o
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior 10 EERSRTHAEZNHEZLEZR

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section THEERRIEREB(RAEINE22E)E
383 (1)@) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 38B3MM@QEDKE - R ARI(FBEEENZER
(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure HOI(FERCE)BE_REFNSHBREBEBH LT
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation AN AEE -

(Cap. 622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ EBEpITRZHME
For year ended 31st March, 2019, the remuneration FEERNTREE-_ZT—NLF=A
of directors and the chief executive is set out =t+—HLEFEZHMeOT :
below:
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect

of a person’s
services as a

director,
whether of
the
Company or Emol ts paid or receivable in respect of director’s other
its subsidiary services in connection with the management of the affairs, whether
undertaking of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
BEAER
5= (Tm
RAEDAY
HE R
WEE)Mm
AR
B XF
ZEBYZ
EEURA RESRUFAEE(THEADAZEHELR)
ZRB EENEBRYE IAFRESHEHH
HR Y 5 o % B T B 2% R T Y
Employer’s
Allowances, contribution
other toa
payment retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name of Director BENR Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
)48
HHRREZ HMtHER RABRG
ue e A BYFE BEZMHX @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET TERT TET FTHET TERT
For the year ended —2-NF=A
31st March, 2019 =t+-HLEEFE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu A& 150 4,264 347 540 80 5,381
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HAEHELE 150 1,572 128 1,559 45 3,454
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, REKEE
Charles 150 2,970 249 1,639 75 5,083
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRLZL 150 — — — — 150
Independent Non-Executive ~BIYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, BRA8 S e
Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, BHE  REHEZ
Larry, $BS, JP A F#+ 200 — - — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny — E 3 IEE 4 200 - — - - 200

1,200 8,806 724 3,738 200 14,668
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior 10 EERSRITHRAEZNZRER
executives (Continued) (%)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ EERITERZMS (HE)
(Continued)
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
a person’s
services as a
director,
whether of
the
Company or Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services
its subsidiary in connection with the management of the affairs, whether of the
undertaking Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAER
BEZ(TH
RARDAL
E B A A
WEE)M
REHMR
%X T
ZEFNZ
BEEARZ HREFREFBEE(THREADAREMBLAR)
ERB MU ERHEMRY N TAEFNHMH -
R # r B o % 8 F T % E IR R F B
Employer’s
Allowances, contribution
other to a
payment  retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name of Director BEHA Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
e 3
BRREZ HttHER RABHME
e e L BEWRE SEZIHAX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT THET FAET TR THET
For the year ended —E-N\FZAH
31st March, 2018 =t+-HBLEFE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu AL E 150 4,060 338 540 76 5,164
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEERE 150 1,496 125 — 43 1,814
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, REKEE
Charles 150 2,824 243 — 71 3,288
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI 150 — — — — 150
Independent Non-Executive ~BIYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, R K £
Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, BWE  #EHEE -
Larry, $BS, JP A Fa+ 200 _ _ _ _ 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny &3 IEEE 200 — — — — 200

1,200 8,380 706 540 190 11,016
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year, except for compensation payable
to Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus and Mr. Cheung Chi
Shing, Charles for not joining competitors of
HK$1,450,000 and HK$1,427,000, respectively
(2018 = Nil),

receivables in respect of accepting office as

no emoluments were paid or

directors (2018: Nil) and no directors waived any
emolument (2018: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the other directors of the Group received
or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits in respect of their services to
the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2019
(2018: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2018:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company in favour of
the directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the

directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2018: Nil).

e M BRRME

10 EERSRTRAEZANERER
(&)
@ EBRITRZHE(E)

FAN BRI HEERLEERREK
% 41,450,000 JC 21,427,000 7T * B
BETSMAEMEREEFEFHOREIN
WETE S EEHA M Xk E U ER
W e (ZE—N\F: B)RIEZEFK
BEEMFM( T —\F E) -

MIMEETRBARBAITR - Ll
BHEZMe T EBEMESRTRZHE -

by EEZEABEFNREBER

BE-_ZT-NF=ZA=+—-RBLFE
W EADBESEREAAEEREMH
BR 75 2 Y ER =k 5 R A B A (o] 3R K AR A
FBEREMN(CE-N\F &) -

(0 BRERESRBEMEAE=FXNTZ
RE
FAAEEBEREREERBAR
AmmERNE=ZTXHRECZE-N
FoE) -

d) FHRESRZIESNIEHNZELE
FRAZEERITYNER XEXR
HttR G Z2E&EHR

AEEHMERARREETREETNRE
HEBEBEBERAYE AMAIRNEF
R FAEARKBEDAFENER £
ERHEMRZ(ZT—N\F: &) -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(e)

)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Except as disclosed in Note 30(a), no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at

any time during the year (2018: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive

Directors (2018: three) whose emoluments are

e M BRRME

10 EERERTHRAEZAERES

()

© EERXE ZHRAHZEK
%
BRBIsE30@FR BN IER A EE X
BELARBREPITNH MAREE
FEENHEEERERERMRF R
FREASHEDAFENERARS &
EREHN(ZZTE—NF: E)-

fH "HUBSHFAL
AEBLUREHFALP =L BRI
EE(ZZ2-N\F: D) HBeE#EN
DR ENREMNBT -AZ

reflected in the analysis presented above. The MaemT :
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining two
individuals were as follows:
2019 2018
—E-AF —Z-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Basic salaries and allowances EXE e RER 2,720 2,700
Discretionary bonus B HRE ZIEA 170 225
Pension costs-defined contribution plans RRRKA — FE SERGHE 76 81
2,966 3,006

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2018: Nil).

KRB NE=A=+-BILEER
BmATEEENRBH I AMATS
NS RBLMALER Be
B k=B 2 BE(CT—\F:
) o
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

11

executives (Continued)

(g The emoluments fell within the following

bands:
Number of individuals
AB

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)\F

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001%8 T &
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,0018 L&
2,000,000 7T 1 1

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British

Virgin Islands income taxes.
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

for the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are

subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25%
during the year (2018: 25%).

e M BRRME 151

10 ESRERTBRABZNERER
(%)
® FHREASEEZ):

11 FiBHEAX
ARNRERCHAMERERE BE -2
CHEAL -ARAREBAEBREERY
MEMBARDRELBARAREERE
BRAEEMAY  Filt BREBHEEL
BAREBEER -

BEENE B AR F165%(ZF — \NF:
16.5% ) B & B L8 515 2 fh 5t R Bm M &t
BB -

EHREKYIREEZHBARRAFEEAIR
25% (= F — \NF 1 25% ) B BG4 B 1%
Frig®i -
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11 Income tax expense (Continued) 11 FR8 %R (&)
The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia RETINE R B R DKL 2 M B R T D 5RR
are subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate MEREMRMGRBE17%(ZF — N\ F:
of 17% (2018: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax 17%) R ERA DD EMERME24%(ZF
at a rate of 24% (2018: 24%) respectively. — \EF 1 24% ) Bt
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated RiFaRaXRTNBEOTIERRE:

income statement represents:

2019 2018
—E-hE Z—E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TET
Current income tax expense BIEAFT 5 BB 2

— Hong Kong profits tax — BENEHR 3,703 4,034
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — hEREMSR 11,944 4,023

— Overseas Corporate Income (Tax Credit)/Tax — B (BUOR %),/
g% (131) 913
Over provision in prior years BT F R (568) (7,403)
14,948 1,567
Deferred income tax (Note 23) iR SE P15 B (P 5E23) (1,371) 3,220

Income tax expense FEHAX 13,577 4,787
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11 Income tax expense (Continued) 11 5% < (&)
The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs FEBZBHABRAEZRERERNE
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the SERBEMZMETFAREFEZER S
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the HAEMER  HHEKRWT :

consolidated entities as follows:

2019 2018
—E-AFE ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Loss before income tax F 75 B 5 18 (24,348) (49,649)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to ~ ¥ZFTEBER /&% # [ A
profits in the respective countries/jurisdictions WaEMzFFHREFEZ
A5 % (4,282) (8,637)
Tax exemption RIEER — (149)
Income not subject to tax IR B (3,196) (1,768)
Expenses not deductible for tax TATHNHE 32 11,683 5,604
Tax benefits MG ER (1,363) (1,280)
Tax losses and other temporary differences for REEErEMERERE
which no deferred income tax was recognised EZRERBELETEH 12,986 17,357
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses ERANERERBRBER (1,683) —
Over provision in prior years BEFEBEREE (568) (7,403)
Withholding tax R — 1,063
Income tax expense FiT 15 5 B X2 13,577 4,787
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 17.6% BRAZMEFERERI7.6%(ZF—/\F:
(2018: 17.4%). The change in average tax rate is mainly 174%)  FHRERHEETEETHARNERD L
caused by changes in the operating results of certain ERETHBLAREEXENBEMBEL -

subsidiaries in Southern China and Eastern China.




154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

13

e M BRRME

Losses per share 12 BRER
Basic X
Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing the BREREBNVEREFANRARNAESL ARMER
Group’s loss attributable to the owners of the Company SEBERNABETEBR ZMEFHEEE -
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.
2019 2018
—E-AFE ZZT-N\F
Loss attributable to the owners of the Company RRAHEE ANELEEER
(HK$'000) (F&TT) (37,925) (54,436)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue BT & B 2
('000) I 5 B (TR 525,135 525,135
Basic losses per share (HK cents) FREAREE GBI (7.22) (10.37)
Diluted w8

Diluted losses per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2019 and 31st
March, 2018, diluted losses per share equals basic losses

per share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

Dividends
The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2019
(2018: Nil).

No interim dividend was paid for the six months ended
30th September, 2018 (30th September, 2017: Nil).

13

EREFEEEDHRBRMBEAEETNEE L
BREERE  CHEEBHTERRZ NE
FHEAHE  —_E-NAEF=ZA=+t—-BR_
Z-NEF=ZA=+-HIEFE SREEFEB
BHRSEREREABE R EATHENE
ERD -

@S
EEEgRETREBE_ZE - NAF=H
=t —RLEFEZREBRE (ZT-NEF: T) -

TEREBEE-_FT-NFAA=ZTH LA
AR (22— FAA=+TR:F) -
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14 Land use rights 14 THFERAE
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid AEBERLIHEAENERERNILEEE
operating lease payments. IA .
2019 2018
—ZE-hE ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FET
At 1st April RMUA—H 22,558 21,346
Amortisation 37! (763) (725)
Translation adjustments EH A (1,304) 1,937
At 31st March W=ZA=+—H 20,491 22,558
The amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated RiFaRaRTHRBZEBHEMAS  HWHET :
income statement is analysed as follows:
2019 2018
—EB-hE —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FET
Cost of sales $HE AR 11 12
General and administrative expenses —RRITBRAX 752 713

763 725
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15 Property, plant and equipment 15 NE -BERRE
Land and Plant and Furniture and Motor  Construction
buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
tHRET BE BRARRE RE HBIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FHT FET FTHT FHT FET
At 31st March, 2017 RZZ—+tF
=A=+-H
Cost B 248,526 938,876 79,504 19,033 4,581 1,290,520
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  ZE 41 & R A (101,528) (779,058) (61,248) (12,326) — (954,160)
Net book amount BREFE 146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
Year ended 31st March, 2018 HE-Z-\F=A
=+—HLFE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 146,998 159,818 18,256 6,707 4,581 336,360
Additions NE 4,009 35,090 8,898 1,849 2,294 52,140
Depreciation e (9,153) (36,834) (5,454) (1,816) — (53,257)
Disposals HE (2,548) (572) (202) (131) — (3,453)
Transfers FLE 21 2,642 97 93 (2,853) —
Translation adjustments ERBE 12,199 12,539 1,315 299 522 26,874
Closing net book amount FREDFE 151,526 172,683 22,910 7,001 4,544 358,664
At 31st March, 2018 RZZ-N\F
“A=t+-8
Cost B 266,572 1,022,623 91,102 19,388 4544 1,404,229
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  Z& 41 & KA A (115,046) (849,940) (68,192) (12,387) — (1,045,565)
Net book amount EHFE 151,526 172,683 22,910 7,001 4,544 358,664
Year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZZ-NF
ZAZT-RIEEE
Opening net book amount ENERFE 151,526 172,683 22,910 7,001 4,544 358,664
Additions RE 1,486 20,647 9,900 171 27,366 59,570
Depreciation e 9,377 (34,521) (7,342) (1,915) - (53,155)
Disposals HE - (1,557) (254) ) 372) (2,185)
Impairment A — (10,000) — — — (10,000
Transfers L5 25,938 125 1,211 — (27,274) —
Translation adjustments EXRAE (7,264) (7,101) (910) (159) (343) (15,777)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 162,309 140,276 25,515 5,096 3,921 337,117
At 31st March, 2019 RZZ-NF
=A=+-H
Cost B 281,745 1,001,908 94,492 18,254 3,921 1,400,320
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  ZFH 41 & KA (119,436) (861,632) (68,977) (13,158) —  (1,063,203)
Net book amount FHEE 162,309 140,276 25,515 5,096 3,921 337,117
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15

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

Depreciation expense recognised in the

consolidated income statement is analysed as

follows:

Cost of sales
Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

At 31st March, 2019, land and buildings with a
total net book value of approximately
HK$2,640,000 (2018: HK$2,764,000) were pledged
as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note
29).

Subsequent to 31st March, 2019, land and
buildings with a total net book value of
approximately HK$2,816,000 were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note

29).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights

The value of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights is assessed at the end of each
reporting period for indications of impairment with
reference to evaluation undertaken by management.
Such evaluation assesses the recoverable amount of
each asset being the higher of its value in use or
its fair value less costs of disposal. As at 31st
March,

separate impairment assessments for the eastern

2019, management performed three

China operation, southern China operation and

Malaysia operation.

e M BRRME

15 YME -BERSZEE)

(@ MREAGKRZRPERZITERT 24
U

2019 2018
—E-hAE —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
55 B 46,271 46,870
HERDHEE A 322 330
—MRITHAX 6,562 6,057
53,155 53,257

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

EEIRIZHRETHEZTORER
MAEEFTMLEPHBES -

RZZFE-NAE=ZA=+—8 EEFHE
#492,640,000% (= T — N F:
2,764,000% T) 2 L i R FRAIEARE
B R 17 {= & 58 2 MY B 3K 4P (P 5£29) o

R-TE-NE=ZA=+—8BH% FE@
F A £92,816,0008 70) 2 L € F A
EREBETEEBZHBERE (M
29) °

M B MR A N T A 2R
(i}

ME - HERRBARLBEREZE
EREREERAZZEREMETLZ
HEAFEETREDR - BHFEN
HREEZAREEE NEEREE
FEHARBERLEREAZREE - RN
—E-NF=ZA=t—H EBES S
MEREY FREBRERATER
EATRAE R -
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15

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights (Continued)

Eastern China operation

As at 31st March, 2019, the carrying amount net of
impairment of the property, plant and equipment
and land use rights in eastern China operation was
HK$85.2 million (2018: HK$77 million). An
impairment loss of HK$10 million was made in
2019 (2018: Nil) and has been recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of eastern China PP&E and land use rights

are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2020: 10%
Sales growth rate from 2021 to 2024: 3%—-5%
Pre-tax discount rate: 13%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2019, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$11.0 million lower. Accordingly, the shortfall
compared with the carrying amount of Eastern
China PP&E and land use rights would have been
HK$21.0 million.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2019 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
eastern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$10.3 million lower. Accordingly, the

shortfall compared with the carrying amount of

eastern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$20.4 million.

e M BRRME

15

M- BERZE (R

© ME BERRXBARTIHEREZR
feE (48)
EREH

RZE-—NF=ZA=+—"R0 EFEH
ZE - BB KR AR L0 6E AR
BERzEEERNTAIB-_+TBET
(ZE-NF:ETLtEEBT) K=
T-NFEHREBERE-TEET
(ZZ-NF:T) TEREAKRAER
RERR o

FIEERYE BERZBE AL LME
AEZTREEBEMER EEREZN
T

TECTFHEREE 10%

ZEZ—FEZZTWFZ 3%5%
R R

BREIATAE IR & - 13%

HEEEBNTHRERMER ZRR
ZREMBRR(BERSREBER ZE
EXBRB)AANBZEATREEE- R
“E-NF=ZA=t—B WEFEZ
HERRXRERE 2 M H K%M A
BREMEBHRIFAE RERYE K
B T % 4 VA B 3 5 P 2 48 PR (BB 7§
ML—T—BEBET ALt BERY
¥ BEMREBARTHEREZERR
ERLZERESR-_T—AEET-

M REREREER _E—-NLF=A
=t—BzEES1%MMELMER
REFETE  BERME  BFERRENA
Rt mEsEREESRS —TF
=tBET Al BERDE KE
LREEARTEREZREEMRL 2
BREABR-_TEOTEET -
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15

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights (Continued)

Southern China operation

As at 31st March, 2019, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment and land use rights
in southern China operation (“southern China PP&E
and land use rights”) was HK$220.9 million (2018:
HK$251.1

was incurred.

million) and no impairment provision

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the southern China PP&E and land use

rights are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2020: 4%
Sales growth rate from 2021 to 2024: 3%
Pre-tax discount rate: 13%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2019, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$62.5 million lower. Accordingly, the
shortfall compared with the carrying amount of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would

have been HK$57.5 million.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2019 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$31.9 million lower. Accordingly, the

shortfall compared with the carrying amount of

southern China PP&E and land use rights would
have been HK$27.0 million.

e M BRRME

15

W3 BEKRE (R

(e)

M BB R A R i A 2R
1B (&)

EHFEK
RZE-NE=ZA=+—"HAFEHEBZ
ME - BERREAR T E R (TE
AME BERRXKBARLERED
ZEEEA B -_FTEATEEL(Z
E-NF:BRF-E- 8%
I 458 T8 B2 OB (B B4

A ERYE BERRXEAL LE
AEZKREEEBEMER 2 T EREZN
T

T TFHENRE —4%

ZE I —FETMNFZ 3%
HELRE

BREBIATAE IR & - 13%

EREMBR(BERSREAN 2
RE B AARY SR E FEE- R
“E-AEZA=+—A HEFEZ
0 R TR R 2 A E 1%
ARGBHRETE AEEDE B
5% 3R LA T M PR 2 0 B A
ROAFoEE+@ET Al BE
MR B R A B
BREEMAL 2 EREBAETFLEET
PR

HEREXREEENR _T—-NLF=A
=t—RBzEES1%MMEEMER
RETE  AEEDE BERREMA
RtmEREZEZREER R D
=T-AaAtEET -Ei BEFY
X BEMKEBALLHEREZRE
ERLZERBESA-_TEAEBET -
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15

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
land use rights (Continued)

Malaysia operation

As at 31st March, 2019, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment in Malaysia
operation (“Malaysia PP&E”) was HK$49.5 million
(2018: HK$51.2 million) and no

provision was incurred.

impairment

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable

amount of the Malaysia PP&E are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2020: 29%
Sales growth rate from 2021 to 2024: 15-25%
Pre-tax discount rate: 14%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2019, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been lowered
by a 4% to 9% from FY2021 to FY2024, based on
historical compound annual growth rate, and gross
profit margin had been lowered by 2% to 3% from
FY2021 to FY2024, from management’s estimates
with all other variables held constant, the value-in-
use of Malaysia PP&E would have been HK$48.9

million lower. Accordingly, the surplus compared

with the carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E would
have been HK$1.7 million.

e M BRRME

15

3 BEKRE (R

(e)

M BB R A R i A 2R
1B (&)

BRAEER
RZE-NEF=ZA=+—"AFRAELE
Bz BERREEREEY
X BERERKRBDZE@EER
MFALBEBATEET(ZE-N\F:
AfF—A-_+t&8n) LEBERNE
I

FHEBREATZWE BEERBZAIR

EEEMFEAZEIEBRAT
—ECRFHEEERX 29%
T —FEZTMNFZ 15-25%
HEEREK

B B8 AT AL 2R = - 14%

NEERERIHRERMEAZME
ERHEMBR(RERSREEN 218
REBR)AAXBEZEZAKEEEB R
—T-NAF=ZA=Z+—HB WZ=ZZT=—
EZT N RFEZHENRERE
BEZHEERK4%E%  RIFELER
FERER RM_T_—Z=_F /Y8
BEEZEMNERERE 2 MHEK2%
B3%  MABEEMEHRRSTTE A
SROATWE BEAXEZERER
BRSO EFNEATES T At - 8
HBIRADYE BERZEZREEM
rzBH%EE—BEL+ESET -
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16  Subsidiaries 16 ELQA
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, RZE—NF=ZA=+—H FZ2WEAA
2019: 2R
Issued and
fully paid
capital/
Place of incorporation and/ paid-in  Percentage of equity
Name of company or operations capital interest held Principal activities
BRTR
HERARIR, BRBRE
DNEEH E3-E 321 BHRE s RER 2 L ETBREH
Directly  Indirectly
HE LF:3
Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd. British Virgin Islands Us$2 100% — Investment holding
KERBRES 2% REER
Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Cook Islands US$200 100% — Investment holding
Limited
MRS 200% T BAEZR
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD8,759,396 100% — Printing of packaging
materials
R 8,759,396 BEM RN
T
Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM6,500,000 100% — Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products
BRAE 6,500,000 BEMEENR &K & E
FRAETT B
Everfar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000 50% 50% Investment holding
REGEARHS 20,0005 7T BEZR
Starlite Visual Communication Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 — 100% Distribution of Team
Green Products
EXGBEREERAR &5 2,000,00078 7T 2t Team GreenfE
Star Union Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100% Inactive
EEARAF £ 28T AR
Starlite Consumer Products, Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 — 100% Investment holding
KBEBRERE X7 RAEER
Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100% Investment holding
KBEBRERE X7 RAEER
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

ARERE

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited

EERHNECHRAT

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy
Limited

Starlite Development International Limited
EXBREKARAF
Starlite Paper Products Limited

ERGRARAT

Place of incorporation and/
or operations

EMRIR,
REEHE

Hong Kong

EFE

Hong Kong

EE

British Virgin Islands
REGBAREE
Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong/the PRC

B/ HE

e M BRRME

16 HME2 R (&)

Issued and
fully paid
capital/
paid-in  Percentage of equity
capital interest held Principal activities
ERTR
BERE/
BaRE s RERE D L TEREH
Directly  Indirectly
HE Gk
HK$3,230,000 — 100% Inactive
ordinary
3,230,000/ 7T RIS
LRl
HK$170,000 — —
non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000/% 7T
ERRH
RS AL 15 (1)
HK$200 — 100% Provision of management
services
200/ 7T REEERY
US$1 — 100% Holding of trade and
service marks
1E7T HEESRRBER
HK$200 — 100% Trading of paper
products
200/ 7T BERRES

HK$1,738,000 —
ordinary
1,738,000 7T
TmRAR A

100% Inactive

AR

HK$262,000 — —

non-voting

deferred (i)
262,000/ 7T
Tl &5 43t

BRE

BEIERAR (i)
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

ARERE

Starlite Printers Limited

EXHRARAF

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited
Starlite Printers (China) Limited
EXEDR(FE)BRDA

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (ii)

2 ENRICRYD B R 2 Ri)

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

£ X DRI (BN B R D A

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited
Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited
EXEERRAF

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly

Center, Limited (ii)

B2 SRR T 0B R A Bi)

e M BRRME

16 [ 27 ()

Issued and

fully paid

capital/

Place of incorporation and/ paid-in
or operations capital
ERTR

EMRIK, BERE/
HERGE BEARAE
Hong Kong HK$2,700,000
ordinary

B 2,700,00078 7T
LRl

HK$2,300,000

non-voting

deferred (i)

2,300,000/ 7T

ERRH

BEIERAR (i)

British Virgin Islands Uss$1
EBEBRES 1ETT
British Virgin Islands US$100
RERBARES 1005 7T
The PRC US$8,000,000
F 8,000,000 7T
The PRC US$20,000,000
t 20,000,000
e

British Virgin Islands US$1
KERBRES [ES
British Virgin Islands US$256,420
REGAREE 256,420% 7T
Hong Kong HK$3,000,000
i 3,000,000/ 7T
The PRC US$6,000,000
HE 6,000,0003 7T

Percentage of equity

interest held Principal activities

s RERE D L TEREH
Directly  Indirectly
BE Gk
— 100% Trading of packaging
materials
BEMHES

— 100% Investment holding
REER

— 100% Investment holding
REER

— 100% Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMEER K
BmEE

— 100% Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products and labels

BEMBHEN R R4 & R
RHLEE

— 100% Investment holding
RERK

— 100% Investment holding
RERRK

— 100% Inactive

AR

— 100% Production of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

EERRR
HitfEER
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

ARERE

Greenworks International Limited

BEIREEERAR

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited (i)

WA EAETEERE QA

Larsemann Intelligence System (Hong Kong)
Limited
S BERR (BE)BERDF

Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System
(Shenzhen) Limited (ii)

BT H T 2 8 88 R 4 ORI B R 2 B(i)

Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design Co.,
Ltd (ii)
Rk B BB R E A R ARG

Team Green (Shanghai) Company Limited (ii)
SNE 5 (L8) B RA R
Suzhou Team Green Home Products Limited

(ii)
B 47 B 2R 808 PR 2 A G

Place of incorporation and/
or operations

EMRIR,
REEHE

Hong Kong

£

The PRC

Hong Kong
EE
Singapore
DI

The PRC

The PRC
i
The PRC
o
The PRC

I E

e M BRRME

16 [ 27 ()

Issued and
fully paid
capital/
paid-in
capital
ERTR
BERE/
BaRE

HK$2

28T

US$11,500,000

11,500,000
EV

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T

SGD1
17 N3 7T

RMB5,000,000

5,000,000
AR%

RMB500,000
500,000 A R ¥
RMB700,000
700,000 A R

RMB4,100,000

4,100,000
AR

Percentage of equity
interest held

s RERE D L
Directly  Indirectly
HE Gk

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

TEREH

Investment holding and
trading of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

RERBRRRRREM
BREERED

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMHEDR RERE
B

Investment holding
REZRK

Trading of Team Green
products
Team GreenEm & 5

Trading and
manufacturing of
machinery and
automated equipment

EEREEHR
EBEBLRE

Trading of Team Green
products
Team GreenZE @ & 5

Trading of Team Green
products
Team GreenEm & 5

Productions of Team
Green products
Team GreenE @£ &
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16 Subsidiaries (Continued) 16 MK E LA (&)
Notes: s
(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These (i) IhWEBERERBEROYFAREEAS - LFR
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless BUEYBMBER BRFEMRIAZAFES
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000 50,000,000,0008 7T * FAIFHBEAEBEZHRE M
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a ERRARESRE  THEEZEEMNSK BRIEFHR
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant A A 3 AR IR 3R AE 2 9 R 3 £50,000,000,00058 7T ©

company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

(ii) English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were (ii) EXEBREHNAR WEWBARAPEKL
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC. ZHNEBECE (T EBERE] -

(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time (iii) MEMBARRBE-_T—NAEF=A=1+—8L#E
during the year ended 31st March, 2019 (2018: Nil). ERAEMEEOEEETEEEAR (T N\F &) -

17  Financial assets at fair value through other 17 BAREBEFAHAZARENS

comprehensive income, financial assets at fair MEE -BAARBETABERZNE
value through profit or loss, and available- MEE RAHLESREE
for-sales financial assets
(@ FvVOCI: @ BAAEBEFAHGZERENS
mMEE:
2019 2018
—E-hE Z—ZE-N\F
HK$000 HK$000
FERT FET
Financial instruments (level 1): SHMITEGE—R)
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — REB LTS

EH 2,005 —
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17  Financial assets at fair value through other 17 BARBEFAHMGZEAKRENE
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair MEE RAABESABEZNS
value through profit or loss, and available- MEE RUHLESREE (H)
for-sales financial assets (Continued)

(@) FVOCI: (Continued) @ RBRALBEFAHMZEWENE
mMEE: (F)
Movement of FVOCI is analysed as follows: BRARBEFAEMEENGOHSRE
EzE2BHoMMT:
2019
—E-hF
HK$000
FHET
As at 1st April, 2018 WZZ2—-N\FMA—H —
Reclassification from available-for-sale financial TN E B B 1% 5 ZE R 957 /B AT 41
assets on adoption of HKFRS 9 HESREESTHE 1,890
Fair value gains on FVOCI BRAANEEBEFAHEBEEREHAR
BEERES 115
As at 31st March, 2019 RZE-NAF=RA=+—8H 2,005
Note: B &
The listed equity securities is denominated in Hong Kong dollar. LS E AR ILIINE -
(b) FVPL: by BRAAEBEFABEZENEREE:
2019 2018
—E-hFE ZZ-N\F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Financial instruments (level 3): EMTE(E=ZHR)
— Unlisted insurance policy investment — LT ZRIRIRE
BE 13,137 —
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17

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, and available-
for-sales financial assets (Continued)

(b)  FVPL: (Continued)

Movement of FVPL is analysed as follows:

As at Tst April, 2018
Reclassification from available-for-sale financial
assets on adoption of HKFRS 9

Fair value gains on FVPL

As at 31st March, 2019

Note:

The unlisted insurance policy investment is denominated in United
States dollars.

The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment are based on
cash flows discounted using a rate based on the current credit rate
of the insurance policies (2019: 4.1%; 2018: 3.9%). The fair value
are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note3.3).

e M BRRME

17 BRAABEFARMZAKRENS
MEE BEAAEBESARZNS
MEE RUHHESRHEE (H)

by BAABEFABENEHEE:

(&)
BEARBETABZENCREEZEE)
DWW :
2019
—E-h#&E
HK$000
FHE T
RZZFE—NEWMA—H —
RME BB REERFESN  BA
HBHESHEEEHE 12,800
BARBEFABZNARBEKE 337
R-ZE—-—hF=ZA=+—H 13,137

P&

LM ZRERRIBAURITINE -

FLETHRBRELENAABEIRARBRE
MEREAEENFEMRRARER (ZF—NF:
2 \F:39%)AABERALIABER
BAE=BBIMEE3.3) -
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17  Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, and available-
for-sales financial assets (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sales financial assets as at 31st

e M BRRME

17 RAABEFARMZAKRENS
BMEE BEAAEBESARZNS
MEE RUHHESHEE (H)

(0 R=ZB-NFE=ZA=t+—Bza#

March, 2018 HESRMEE
2018
—T-)N\F
HK$000
FHET
Available-for-sale financial assets AfHESREE
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at — RERBLTHREZES  UQR
fair value BEsE 1,890
— Unlisted insurance policy investment, at — E LTV RIRRERE  UAR
fair value EBEHE 12,800
14,690
Movement of the available-for-sale financial assets AT ESHEEZEHET
is as follows:
2018
—T-)N\F
HK$000
FAT
As at Tst April, 2017 W-ZZ—+FmMA—H 10,636
Additions #n 3,522
Revaluation gains recognised in investment NERESERBTEINEG RS
revaluation reserve 532
As at 31st March, 2018 RZTE-—NF=ZA=+—H 14,690
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17

18

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, and available-
for-sales financial assets (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sales financial assets as at 31st
March, 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value are denominated in

the following currencies:

e M BRRME

17 BAREEFAAEMZEUKEZNE
MEE BEAAEBEFTAEBEZNE
MEE RUMAHESHEEGE)
(0 R=ZSB-—NFE=ZA=t+—Bza#

HESHEE (&)

BARBEENEHEEATIEEIIE:

2019 2018
—EBE-hE —ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FEx FATT
us$ ET 13,137 12,800
HK$ &I 2,005 1,890
15,142 14,690

Inventories 18 ®E
2019 2018
—E-hFE ZZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FE&ET
Raw materials R R 58,582 66,993
Work in progress 8 24,100 37,278
Finished goods LR o 44,596 42,544
127,278 146,815

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$662,078,000 (2018:
HK$725,688,000). During the year, the Group has written
back provision for inventory obsolescence of
approximately HK$3,731,000 (2018: provision of
HK$991,000), which was included in cost of sales and as
at 31st March, 2019, the amount of provision was
HK$19,463,000 (2018: HK$24,471,000).

As at 31st March, 2019, there were floating charges over

certain of the Group’s inventories of approximately
HK$20,636,000 (2018: HK$7,595,000) to secure the trust
receipts import bank loan arrangements (Note 29).

TFERAA H4662,078,000%8 T(ZF — )\
F 1 725,688,000 7T) 51 YE 5 32 0 51 A 85 & K
AP -RAFERN AEBEEFFERERE
[E] # %93,731,0008 (= & — )\ F: & &
991,000/ 70) * W EE I AHE KA H - B
—E-hAhFZAZt+—B BEHBEA
19,463,0007 7T (= & — J\F © 24,471,000/
TT) e

R-ZE-AEF=A=+—-—HB A£EYME
20,636,000/ 7L (== — /\ & : 7,595,000/ L)
CHEERERERBEEORTERLHIEAR
(P 5E29) ©
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19 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 19 BFEWERRRREE -BAARER
deposits rE
2019 2018
ZEB-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Trade receivables B 5 B ERER 229,988 248,957
Less: Loss allowance o BB EE (15,322) (10,755)
Trade receivables — net EHREWER — F8 214,666 238,202
Bill receivables e — 124
Trade and bill receivables ESRKERREE 214,666 238,326
Prepayments and deposits T FIE kRS 29,278 31,058
243,944 269,384
The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables, ZHRWERRERE BNRELRZE O
prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values. EENHEREARER-
The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally SEETEEFEEEHR —RRB3OKRE120RT
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill ZE-BHRUEREREBZERGZERER)
receivables by invoice date is as follows: m
2019 2018
—EB-hE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER TR
1 to 90 days 1290K 173,445 198,831
91 to 180 days 91£180K 38,053 28,150
181 to 365 days 181£365K 10,252 9,223
Over 365 days B iB365K 8,238 12,877
229,988 249,081
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19 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 19 BEFEWERRRREE -BAARER
deposits (Continued) rE (%)
The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated FEEZEFRBERRZEBRIATIEESNE
in the following currencies:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
HK$ T 28,880 30,745
us$ ET 136,831 145,894
RMB AR 38,324 40,677
SGD N T 7,276 11,749
RM BRAEETT 10,162 10,854
Others Efth 8,515 9,162
229,988 249,081
Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are BORWEREREBEEZZHNOT :
as follows:
2019 2018
—EB-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
As at Tst April R A—A 10,755 8,299
Increase in loss allowance of trade receivables B 5 rEIREERERBEE
0 5,785 2,196
Receivables written off during the year as FRARBEIRE Z EKER K
uncollectible e (815) (345)
Translation adjustment E S A (403) 605
As at 31st March R=A=+—8 15,322 10,755
The increase in the loss allowance of trade receivables EZREERBRBEELRMERGS KER
have been included in general and administrative —RETBERXFAR -AKEERTEH
expenses in the consolidated income statement. The BRELERBORZEET L HHEESRE
Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to W R AR B B R HE 2 7T At &
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime BHEEBR AESAZHE BERME
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The 3.1(b)A -
detailed impairment approach has summarised in Note
3.1(b).
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19 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 19
deposits (Continued)

The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits do not contain loss allowance.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the fair value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.

20 Bank balances and cash 20

FRB

Non-current

Long-term bank deposit (Note a)

Current bk 2
Cash at bank and in hand (Note b)
Short-term bank deposits (Note b)

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months from date

of deposits (Note a)

Total bank balance and cash

Maximum exposure to credit risk &= = B AR
Notes: BtsE -
(a) As at 31st March, 2018 the long-term bank deposit was pledged to (a)

a bank in securing an export license in the PRC. It bears an average
interest rate of 2.25% per annum and will be matured in 2020. The
deposit has been classified as bank deposits with maturity over 3
months from date of deposits as at 31st March, 2019.

(b) As at 31st March, 2019, the effective interest rate on cash at bank,
short-term bank deposits was 1.21% (2018: 0.6677%). The short-
term bank deposits had an average maturity of 1 month as at 31st
March, 2019 (2018: 3 months).

e M BRRME

EZRBERRERE BENARER
7€ (&)

RESRERER  BARERRZS T O
BT TBEHRRE -

RBEALMBRERETINESEERR
BHENERAEBEBE NEBIKFHEAMH
[

ROTEERRE

RHRTEFHR (M Ea) —

RITRFERE (MH5Eb)
5 HRITE R (M 5ED)

BehBEEE

HERERTERE =M
ABE 2 RITIER
(Ffif5Ea)

RITFREIREAE

2019 2018
—®-hE —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
1,312

237,755 291,624
12,227 22,609
249,982 314,233
15,950 15,165
265,932 329,398
265,932 330,710
265,437 330,178

—E-N\FZAZ+—H RERTEXREER
F-RB|IOTUERPEOLOFATE  HFHHE
REB25ERER T _TFIH - BRITER
RIB-NFZRA=T-HOERAGTRARFE
BB=EA R RITFER

RZT—NAFE=ZA=+—8 RIGFEK BHRTHE
RZBYFERFEBI21IE(ZT — JVF £ 0.6677
B) WERHMBRTEAR-_T-AF=A=+—8H
FHEBMAARBEA(ZT-NF 3EA) -
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20

e M BRRME

Bank balances and cash (Continued) 20 ROTEEFERES (A)
Bank balances and cash were denominated in the RITHEFLRREDERATEEFE
following currencies:
2019 2018
—E-nFE —FT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
HK$ T 64,219 111,113
RMB AR 114,520 81,545
USs$ e 47,816 81,795
Euro BT 1,821 14,565
SGD AN T 24,398 33,712
Others Hbt 13,158 7,980
265,932 330,710
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in REBUARBIEZ RS RESEED
RMB of approximately HK$113,983,000 (2018: 113,983,000/% 7T (= & — /L4 : 480,309,000
approximately HK$80,309,000) are deposited with banks BB ERRPBEZRIT - BAREINEZ
in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB denominated EHRBRERNMERELFRARPEARHK
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of TMEBFRMAZINEERRNEROEE -
funds out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange
control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Government of The People’s Republic of China.
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the BeRnEXRTHRELRBLFERETI
purposes of the statement of cash flows:
2019 2018
—EB-hE —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERS 237,755 291,624
Short-term bank deposits MHISRITHER 12,227 22,609

249,982 314,233
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21 Borrowings 21 @&
2019 2018
—EB-hE —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Long-term bank loans RHRITER 161,936 208,698
Short-term bank loans RHRITER 31,519 33,750
Trust receipts import bank loans FERBBEORITER 20,636 7,595
Total borrowing, secured AR E BT 214,091 250,043
Less: amounts due on demand or within one year B SIARBEEZE
shown under current liabilities ERERI—FRIH
R (214,091) (139,674)
Non-current portion FEENHA AL 10 — 110,369
At 31st March, 2019, the Group’s borrowings were RZE—NF=ZA=Z+—H KAEEZHE
repayable as follows: Z AR E I
2019 2018
—E-AFE ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FET
Within 1 year —F A 125,912 136,861
Between 1 and 2 years —E_fF 56,595 55,920
Between 2 and 5 years —EREF 31,584 57,262
214,091 250,043
The above amounts due are based on the scheduled MREZHHERREERAE NP ELET
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and EZETA HE - R EBEERERER
ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause. 2B
As at 31st March, 2019, the Group has not complied RZE-NF=ZA=+—BEREEKREED
with certain financial covenants of certain bank ETROTERNE :Fﬁﬁﬁ@@ﬁ'] B B RE
borrowings and the related borrowings have been EREBRERADHAEBENR —E-NE=
included in current liabilities. Subsequent to 31st March, A=+—BU#&E XEEED F"J HEA R 1T ES
2019, the Group has obtained a revised borrowing facility EHNERBEEERL AERRE  AEH
letter with the relevant bank and since then, the Group EREaEEREENUBROERK-
has complied with its financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities.
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21

Borrowings (Continued) 21
Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the
banking facilities of the Group and pledge of assets are
disclosed in Note 29.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of

the year are as follows:

e M BRRME

& (|
MERBERFEREREE AEEORTE
B RS B T M B2 B o

FEEZRERFRETRAENRENXE
ERAHNETNEARHMAT

2019 2018

—E-hFE ZZ-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

6 months or less NE A 3 AR 182,578 231,298
Within 1 year —F R 31,513 18,745
214,091 250,043

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR
us$ Eiv

RITBME ZREE IR TEBIIE

2019 2018
—E-AFE —E-N\HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRER TAT
173,649 215,034
31,513 33,742
8,929 1,267

214,091 250,043
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21 Borrowings (Continued) 21 mE(HE)
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of RBEFRBZAEXFEMENT
reporting period were as follows:
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
HK$ RMB Us$ HK$ RMB Us$
BT AR® P BT AR x7
Long-term bank loans RHRITER 4.40% — —  3.70% — —
Short-term bank loans BHRITER —  5.04% — —  471% —
Trust receipts import bank {5 5E Y15 # O iR 1T
loans B 4.79% — 5.02% 5.25% — 5.25%
22 Trade and bill payables 22 BEZENRRRESE
2019 2018
—E-AE ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER TEL
Trade payables 2 5 M ERR 127,807 183,428
Bill payables JERT R T 1,087 1,184
128,894 184,612
The ageing analysis of trade and bill payables is as ZEORNERREBRRESTOT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hE —Z-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
1 to 90 days 1290 117,043 166,262
91 to 180 days 91£180K 8,344 11,019
181 to 365 days 181E365K 709 639
Over 365 days B iB365K 2,798 6,692
128,894 184,612
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22

23

Trade and bill payables (Continued)

22 BEEZENERIKRRE(E)

The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in REEZEFENEFRERATINEETIE

the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Us$
RM
Others

Deferred income tax
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred

liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities, net

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FATT
BT 24,751 37,285
AR 86,447 129,867
ETT 2,015 1,891
BREETT 11,129 11,183
Hftb 4,552 4,386
128,894 184,612

23 EEFREH
tax REMESHEERBELEMBSHRABEN TN

T

2019 2018
—E-NF —E—N\HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAIT
BEEREMEE 4,152 3,818
BIEFTSERAE (6,422) (7,260)

BIEFGEHEBE — F8 (2,270) (3,442)
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23 Deferred income tax (Continued) 23 EZEFREH (&)
The net movements in the deferred tax account are as RIS RFE2ESHFBFHOT -
follows:
2019 2018
—E-RFE ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
As at Tst April ®EA—H (3,442) (644)
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated income Riga s Rt A (3K%)
statement (Note 11) (B EET1) 1,371 (3,220)
Translation adjustments JE (199) 422
As at 31st March R=RAR=+—H (2,270) (3,442)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities REMGBHEAERBEZZ2E (W RFAERRA
without taking into consideration the offsetting of —EBR AR T
balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: RIEFTIEMEE -
Provisions Tax losses Total
BiE BBER k-]
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

“E-NF ZT)\F ZBE-NF ZT)\F ZE-AF —T)\F
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
T TET TER TRET TER TAT

As at Tst April REA—A 3,561 3,625 2,570 5,262 6,131 8,887
(Charged)/credited to the RizaREERP

consolidated income statement (%) /& A (1,009) (339) 748 (2,847) (261) (3,186)
Translation adjustments ERBE (189) 275 (14) 155 (203) 430

As at 31st March R=ZA=+—-8H 2,363 3,561 3,304 2,570 5,667 6,131




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & Bi 75 3% 3% Bt &% 179

23 EEMBE (K)
A S BB

23 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Accelerated taxation

Withholding Tax depreciation Total
BRH MEBIRFE wnE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

“E-AF 22\ ZBE-AF T\ ZE-hLF ZT-N\F
HK$/000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHxT FHT FET FHT FET FHT

As at Tst April HUA—H 7,031 5,968 2,542 3,563 9,573 9,531
Charged/(credited) to the NRAWERPHBR

consolidated income statement (5t A) (1,590) 1,063 42) (1,029) (1,632) 34
Translation adjustments ER A% 3) — 1 8 @) 8
As at 31st March R=ZA=+—8” 5,438 7,031 2,499 2,542 7,937 9,573

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is payable.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$39,200,000 (2018: HK$28,820,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$21,066,000
(2018: HK$17,774,000) in respect of tax losses that can
be carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$14,483,000 (2018: HK$6,883,000) will
expire in 2019 to 2023 (2018: 2018 to 2022). The

estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the

relevant tax authorities.

EEAUREBAARERNENEREBNRIEA
MHEE e ERBEBERRBELRS
BAE -

RECHEHREETSRHER A5EIL K
BRENTEEBRINREHEZEZNE
JEFT13 81 & E #939,200,000/8 70 (ZF — )\ F -
28,820,000 jT) - B R E R - B BB L
21,066,000 7T (=& — /\4F : 17,774,000/ 7T)
AR AR ERRERBTRA - H
# B 75 85 18 #914,483,00008 T (Z & — )\ :
6,883,000 L) BEgR T —NFE-T =
Fam - N\F:ZT—-N\FE=-FT=-_=
F) HEPBEEIARBEBEEEKEA
B HE o
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23 Deferred income tax (Continued)
Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign
investors starting from 1st January, 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. All dividends coming from the profits generated
by the PRC entities after Tst January, 2008 shall be

subject to this withholding income tax.

e M BRRME

23 EEMBE (K)
BRE-ZELF+-ANBRBHFEAR
HAECEMERERBED RZTEN
F-A— ARG MARPERINEEY
BEOMRE & D IR BB MU 0% BB ATSH -
e B B SN A 5 60 B B B B AT RS
0 —EABRENBRASHEEEER 78
RPBERYNEESR-FTN\F—A—H
BERBROFBOREBEAR U BRAEH -

24 Share capital 24 BAE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
Number Number
of shares of shares
BB EE Bt & B
‘000  HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR FTHER T’ FHET
Authorised: ETERA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each SREE.10B T2 @R 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

As at Tst April, 2017, 31st March, 2018 and i s
31st March, 2019 —=

Tk 2RTkoBR:

Number of
shares  Share capital
RO EE &N
HK$’000
FET
tFmMA—Q1-
—N\F=ZA=1+—HEK
NF=R=+—H 525,135,288 52,514




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25

Employee share options

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an
employee share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme adopted
on 6th September, 2002. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Company may grant options to employees
(including Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors (excluding Independent Non-Executive Directors)
of the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time excluding for this purpose any shares issued on the
exercise of options. The exercise price will be determined
by the Company’s board of directors and shall be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares of HK$0.1

constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

each. The Group has no legal or
in cash.
No share option was granted during the years ended 31st

March, 2019 and 2018.
outstanding as at 31st March, 2019 and 2018.

No share options were

e M BRRME

25

EBEBERE

RZB-——FNA+HEB RARFRH—E
BEBREAS(TEREABDUDRAN -F
ToFNARNBRMZERERENE - RE
BREFIARATNE T (BEARBZH
TEERFANTER(TEREBIIERTESE))
EHBREARBBADARN  MA#ETZ
BOBERZRARAIKEEITRMNZ
30% BN EHE R TR B A B 1T 2 D o
REEOAARBAZEEZREET  EAAER
UT=mz&ad  ORERBHRARERN
ZWHE: (WA RAROREEEL BB
hfEZERZ M FHRTE  Rii)A R 7
P&t 2 EE (Bl & BR0. 18 7o) - A& B )%
ERAHEETRESIANRE NI SHERE -

R-Z—NER-Z-N\EZA=+—HB1
FEN LmALAABBRE R -F—NEF
R-F—N\FZAS+—BLmERTEY
B AR A4 o
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26 Reserves

As at 1st April, 2017

Comprehensive income

Loss attributable to the owners
of the Company

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale financial
asset

Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive loss for

the year

Transactions with the owners
in their capacity as owners

Transfer to statutory reserve

As at 31st March, 2018

RZE—+tFMA-H
2EKHE
RARHEAAEEEE

A2 E W
AHHESRAEL
AR EEEM

EHER

FRAEEFRAR

BEAUNEREASHH

x5
BEEEERE

2:e

e
=A=+-8
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e M BRRME

26 fRfE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other

comprehensive

Investment income
Share Capital Statutory I I lati Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
RAREET
ARt
2EUENS
REEMH MEEZ
R4 EE BAGE EERE 1 EfhfHAE ERERE REER #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FEL FEL FET TET TET FEL
127,796 1,792 12,160 1,832 — 26,209 321,594 491,383
— — — — — — (54,436) (54,436)
— — — 532 — — — 532
— — — — — 42,815 — 4,815
— — — 532 — 42,815 (54,436) (11,089)
— — 1,299 — — — (1,299) —
— — 1,299 532 — 42,815 (55,735) (11,089)
127,796 1,792 13,459 2,364 — 69,024 265,859 480,294
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e M BRRME

26 Reserves (Continued) 26 f#fE (&)
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
Investment income
Share Capital Statutory luati revaluati lati Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
RRAEER
AEfe
2EUENS
REEMH MEEZ
RO EE BAGE EERE i EfbfAE ERGE REER #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEL FiEx TiET TET FERT TR FiEx TiET
As at 31st March, 2018 and RZF-N\F
Tst April, 2018 ZAZT-HR
—2-\#mMA—A 127,796 1,792 13,459 2,364 _ 69,024 265,859 480,294
Change in accounting policies &3 EFZH (Ff:t2)
(Note 2) — — — (2,364) 1,154 — 1,210 —
Restated balance —g2-N\%
as at 1st April, 2018 A-BHEES 127,796 1,792 13,459 — 1,154 69,024 267,069 480,294
Comprehensive income 2EBH
Loss attributable to the owners AR A A AE{E B
of the Company — — — — — — (37,925) (37,925)
Other comprehensive income  Efti 2 E Y
Increase in fair value of BAABEGALGLEZE
financial assets at fair value WHNEHEEL
through other comprehensive AR EEEM
income — — — — 115 — — 115
Currency translation differences JE X %% — — — — — (26,387) — (26,387)
Total comprehensive loss for ~ FR2EHBLE
the year — — — — 115 (26,387) (37,925) (64,197)
Transactions with the owners ~ EBEALEBEAFHH
in their capacity as owners x5
Transfer to statutory reserve HREETRE - - 2,353 - - - (2,353) -
— — 2,353 — 115 (26,387) (40,278) (64,197)
As at 31st March, 2019 RZF-NF
=B=+-8 127,79 1,792 15,812 — 1,269 42,637 226,791 416,097
Note:  As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to Mzt : REARARARPEKLIREEOHNBLRRHS

the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their
statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are
required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year
losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of
their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

EOIRERBE - RAEKRBRRHEEGRREET (B
EHAMFENBR) D IREEERE - HLEPED
EFRTPENSFRURERERE L FFEZ
10%ZEEERME BEEDIKREETHEENE QA
# 5 M & AR #950% © 1L S 0% TE 48 I DA 9B 85 DA BT 4
FE A S LA B AT AT AR © AR A) R o B AR S A B R
RRABE - EEHERT R IR R ZRE)
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows

(@) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash
generated from operations:

e M BRRME

27 HEHREREBRMEE

@ KBRABREL2XBELRS ZHEK:

2019 2018
—EB-hE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Loss before income tax R 5 B B 18 (24,348) (49,649)
Adjustments for: KT -
— Interest income — MR A (721) (443)
— Interest expense — FEXH 10,563 7,813
— Amortisation of land use rights (Note 14) — bk PR A
(Pi5E14) 763 725
— Depreciation of property, plant and —ME BEREHBZ
equipment (Note 15) #rE (M =E15) 53,155 53,257
— Losses on disposals of property, plant and — HEWE  BE &
equipment (Note 27(b)) w2 R
(P #E27(b)) 1,868 2,854
— Net impairment losses on financial assets — — & @& ERE
&5 18 % 8 5,785 2,196
— (Write back of provision)/provision for — REFERE
inventory obsolescence (BEEE) #E (3,731 991
— Provision for impairment of property, — VE BERKREN
plant and equipment R E R 10,000 —
— Net fair value gains on financial assets at ~— R AR EE AEHE
fair value through profit or loss MEMEEZAR
B{ERSFE 337) —
— Net exchange differences — EXRERFHR — 2,591
52,997 20,335
Changes in working capital (excluding effects &8 & & & &)
of translation adjustments) (TEFELRENTE)
— Inventories — 78 16,442 (18,957)
— Trade and bill receivables — BHRWEREER 13,569 11,263
— Prepayments and deposits — BNFERERS 428 (2,227)
— Trade and bill payables — BRNERLER (50,102) 45,449
— Accruals and other payables — EErRER
H A JE A 3R 18,487 1,842
— Deferred revenue — R A (306) (75)
Cash generated from operations KREEBEEZRS 51,515 57,630
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 27 HBEBRESHREXRKETE)
flows (Continued)

(b)  In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from by RBELREEXAN LEVE BEER
disposal of property, plant and equipment (PR ONE R
comprise:
2019 2018
—EB-hE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FET
Net book value BREDF A 2,185 3,453
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEME BERZHEZ
equipment (Note 6) &5 18 (P 5t6) (1,868) (2,854)

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and &M - BWE L&EZ

equipment FR5 A 317 599
(c) Net cash reconciliation () FEHLYER
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and KERHIEFR ST REFRFENF
the movements in net cash for each of the years Re @
presented.
2019 2018
—E-nFE —ZT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
Net cash FRE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFE 249,982 314,233
Borrowing and loans BAERER
— repayable within one year - EAR—FRER (214,091) (139,674)
Borrowing and loans MERER
— repayable after one year - BAR—FRER — (110,369)
35,891 64,190
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFE 249,982 314,233
Gross debt — fixed interest rates WER — BT (31,513) (18,745)
Gross debt — variable interest rates WIER — FEF R (182,578) (231,298)

Net cash FHE 35,891 64,190
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27 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 27 HBEBRESHREXRKETE)
flows (Continued)
(¢c) Net cash reconciliation (Continued) (c) BEESYR(GE)

Liabilities from

Other assets financing activities
Hth&E MEFDMEZ2AE
Borrowings Borrowings

and loans due and loans due

Cash within 1 year  after 1 year Total
AR—FRN AR-F#
HEZRE HEZRE

Be REX REX FER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET FA&T
Net cash as at RZTE—+F
1st April, 2017 MmA—B2
FHE 250,334 (113,466) (72,457) 64,411
Cash flows Rens 48,707 (23,067) (37,912) (12,272)
Foreign exchange SMEE 35 B
adjustments 15,192 (3,141) — 12,051
Net cash as at RZTE—NF
31st March, 2018 =A=+—
Bz F#R&E 314,233 (139,674) (110,369) 64,190
Net cash as at R-ZE—NF
Tst April, 2018 mMA—HZ
FHE 314,233 (139,674) (110,369) 64,190
Cash flows ReRE (50,755) (76,642) 110,369 (17,028)
Foreign exchange SMEE 38 B
adjustments (13,496) 2,225 — (11,271)
Net cash as at R-ZZE—hnF
31st March, 2019 =A=+—

Az FH& 249,982 (214,091) — 35,891
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28 Commitment 28 &iE
(@) Capital commitments (@) EBREIE
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of REBRBESERBETNEIKRTA
reporting period contracted but not yet incurred is ZEARRIZNOT
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-AFE ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
Authorised and contracted for: EHEREETAER
Machinery 28 4,241 2,601
Computer system, equipment and renovation ~ BSR4 - ZEREE 365 2,399
Construction in progress FEREIR 14,344 23,898
18,950 28,898
(b) Operating lease commitments (h) REHEHEE
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease AEBERBAAZH AR WEET
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of KEMEZARKEREMNR@EMT -
land and buildings, as follows:
2019 2018
—B-NF T )N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Amounts payable R EA
— within one year — — &R 5,371 8,796
— later than one year but no later than five — Bl —F
years ETEBLF 155 5,637
5,526 14,433
Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for AEENKEHEFH—RAE—ZE_F-
terms of 1 to 2 years.




188

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group had aggregate banking

facilities of approximately HK$370,919,000

(2018:

HK$430,354,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing
and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same
date amounted to approximately HK$158,652,000 (2018:
HK$146,848,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i)

(iii)

mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings
with a total net book value of approximately
HK$2,640,000 (2018: HK$2,764,000) (Note 15(c));

floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements
of approximately HK$20,636,000 (2018:
HK$7,595,000) (Note 18);

guarantees provided by the Company and certain

of its subsidiaries; and

charges over the Group’s FVPL with fair value of
approximately HK$8,791,000 as at 371st March,
2019.

Subsequent to 31st March, 2019, mortgages over the

Group’s land and buildings with a total net book value of

approximately HK$2,816,000 were further pledged as

collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 15(d)).
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30 Related party transactions 30 MEALTZRS
As at 31st March, 2019, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially RZTE-—NhF=ZA=+—8B MAEWMEEH
owned approximately 36.93% of the Company’s ordinary BARRAKB6.93%H L BBRA G - 1H5R L+
shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially owned approximately FARRA7 %N EBERRG - k£
17.11% of the Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam REBRLT A RERAESE -

and Ms. Yeung are directors of the Company.

(@) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the (@) BREENMBREREMIBGHIN T A
consolidated financial statements, the following HEEATH#ITZIRS

transaction was carried out with related parties:

2019 2018
—E-AFE —ZT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
Operating lease rental expense KEMEHSER
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note) — m 2zt () 82 79
Note: The Group entered into an operating lease agreement et : AKBEREFGRLZLT AARNZEF L
with Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of the Company. The EHEHHE PR HHR-BREBER
transaction was carried out in the usual course of RARA LB RS A T8 A B 2 GHOH#TT -
business, and in accordance with the terms of the contract
entered into by the Group and the related party.
(b) Key management compensation by FTEEBAESMEEY
2019 2018
—B-hE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Basic salaries, allowances and others EAF e FZUREM 13,744 10,120
Discretionary bonus BHRIRE 2L 724 706
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RRA — REH-REE 200 190

14,668 11,016
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31 Financial instruments by category 31 RMIARERES
2019 2018
—E-hFE ZZ-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: DR ASIRNEMEE :
Trade and bill receivables (Note 19) ESRKERREE
(FF3E19) 214,666 238,326
Deposits b 11,400 13,872
Long-term bank deposit REBITER — 1,312
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months from date 7 AR E B
of deposits (Note 20) =& R BE 2 RITFR
(P 5%20) 15,950 15,165
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) B RB&EEF20) 249,982 314,233
491,998 582,908

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RAALBEFABENS

(Note 17) & E (MeE17) 13,137 —
Financial assets at fair value through other BARBEFAEMEE
comprehensive income (Note 17) Wamm e mEE
(B EE17) 2,005 —
Available-for-sales financial assets (Note 17) A ESmEE
(Mt &E17) — 14,690
507,140 597,598
Financial liabilities cRmEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: DR ASIENSRERE
Trade and bill payables (Note 22) BE5RNERREE
(PR 5E22) 128,894 184,612
Accruals and other payables & T B 8 Nl 3R 74,198 69,138
Borrowings (Note 21) mE (faE21) 214,091 250,043

417,183 503,793
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32 Statement of financial position and movement

of reserve of the Company

(@)

Statement of financial position of the
Company

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in and amounts due from

subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments and deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company

Share capital

Reserves (Note 32(b))

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Current income tax liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

@@ AAFAZMBRRRE

32 AARAZHMBRAREREHEED

As at 31st March,

KR=B=+—8H
2019 2018
—EBE-hE —ZT—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FATT
BE
ERBEE
RHBRARZEE R
FE U R IR 223,073 225,905
223,073 225,905
REBEE
FENREBERZS 861 973
RekRESERAE 1,413 820
2,274 1,793
EEHRE 225,347 227,698
s
AATEEAELER
[N 52,514 52,514
(M EE32(0)) 152,584 149,523
EEARE 205,098 202,037
&&
REAE
FEst BB R EMEMK 1,539 1,817
BUERFT 1S % & 1& 8 18
FETH B A R FE 18,702 23,826
EEHBE 20,249 25,661
EEREELASE 225,347 227,698

191



192 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B B K M =

32 Statement of financial position and movement 32 ZFRATZHBKEMRREREHEE S (&)
of reserve of the Company (Continued)
(b) Movement of reserve of the Company b) FABZHEEZH
ARARZE-NF=ZA=Z+—HRZ

The changes in the reserves of the Company during

the years ended 31st March, 2019 and 2018 are as FoA\FZREZBHOT -
follows:
Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
ROEE BEX@E R %A e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET
As at Tst April, 2017 RZT—+F
MA—H 127,796 520 20,200 148,516
Profit for the year F A A — — 1,007 1,007

As at 31st March, 2018 RZTE—N\F

—A=+—8H 127,796 520 21,207 149,523
As at 1st April, 2018 RZT—N\F

mA—H 127,796 520 21,207 149,523
Profit for the year F R — — 3,061 3,061

As at 31st March, 2019 RZZE—NnF
=A=+—~ 127,796 520 24,268 152,584
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